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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
(Unaudited)

  June 30, 2014  December 31, 2013
ASSETS     
Current Assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 326,853  $ 405,505
Trade receivables (net of allowances of $10,443 and $10,493, respectively)  583,220  524,493
Inventories: Raw materials  257,328  252,457

Work in process  17,818  6,658
Finished goods  279,725  274,691
Total Inventories  554,871  533,806

Deferred income taxes  30,475  40,189
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  148,629  148,910

Total Current Assets  1,644,048  1,652,903
Property, plant and equipment, at cost  1,814,663  1,757,983
Accumulated depreciation  (1,115,821)  (1,070,768)

  698,842  687,215
Goodwill  675,484  665,582
Other intangible assets, net  80,176  30,615
Deferred income taxes  151,830  154,437
Other assets  150,153  140,979
Total Assets  $ 3,400,533  $ 3,331,731

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current Liabilities:     
Bank borrowings and overdrafts and current portion of long-term debt  $ 3,052  $ 149
Accounts payable  195,251  226,733
Accrued payroll and bonus  52,379  105,816
Dividends payable  31,672  31,740
Restructuring and other charges  2,022  2,116
Other current liabilities  184,274  193,812

Total Current Liabilities  468,650  560,366
Long-term debt  932,621  932,665
Deferred gains  47,957  41,339
Retirement liabilities  238,531  238,225
Other liabilities  110,830  92,085

Total Other Liabilities  1,329,939  1,304,314
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)   
Shareholders’ Equity:     

Common stock 12 1/2¢ par value; authorized 500,000,000 shares; issued 115,761,900 and 115,761,840
shares as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013; and outstanding 81,177,534 and 81,384,246 shares as of
June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013  14,470  14,470
Capital in excess of par value  131,772  131,461
Retained earnings  3,229,301  3,075,657
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (383,714)  (392,711)
Treasury stock, at cost - 34,584,366 shares as of June 30, 2014 and 34,377,594 shares as of December 31,
2013  (1,393,531)  (1,365,805)

Total Shareholders’ Equity  1,598,298  1,463,072
Noncontrolling interest  3,646  3,979

Total Shareholders’ Equity including noncontrolling interest  1,601,944  1,467,051
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  $ 3,400,533  $ 3,331,731

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(AMOUNT IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
(Unaudited)

 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

  2014  2013  2014  2013

Net sales  $ 788,414  $ 757,635  $ 1,558,638  $ 1,485,471
Cost of goods sold  435,767  423,649  864,579  840,125
Research and development expenses  66,431  64,672  127,934  123,774
Selling and administrative expenses  132,919  124,813  256,653  239,468
Restructuring and other charges, net  182  2,105  304  2,105
Interest expense  11,403  12,860  23,080  24,013
Other income, net  (4,641)  (11,209)  (3,198)  (12,282)
Income before taxes  146,353  140,745  289,286  268,268
Taxes on income  36,068  38,423  72,294  75,248
Net income  110,285  102,322  216,992  193,020
Other comprehensive income (loss), after tax:         

Foreign currency translation adjustments  7,570  (17,051)  (1,826)  (16,825)
Gains (losses) on derivatives qualifying as hedges  1,598  (2,174)  2,058  (2,302)
Pension and postretirement net liability  4,400  5,088  8,765  10,220

Other comprehensive income (loss)  13,568  (14,137)  8,997  (8,907)
Total comprehensive income  $ 123,853  $ 88,185  $ 225,989  $ 184,113
Net income per share - basic  $ 1.35  $ 1.25  $ 2.66  $ 2.36
Net income per share - diluted  $ 1.35  $ 1.24  $ 2.64  $ 2.34
Average number of shares outstanding - basic  80,949  81,309  81,003  81,300
Average number of shares outstanding - diluted  81,430  82,041  81,583  82,018
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.39  $ 0.34  $ 0.78  $ 0.68

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
(Unaudited)

  Six Months Ended June 30,

  2014  2013

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net income  $ 216,992  $ 193,020
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization  49,131  39,807
Deferred income taxes  10,228  4,971
Gain on disposal of assets  (1,569)  (18,021)
Stock-based compensation  14,034  14,050
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of Aromor acquisition:     

Trade receivables  (50,236)  (60,753)
Inventories  1,850  14,694
Accounts payable  (30,831)  (10,198)
Accruals for incentive compensation  (54,970)  (23,076)
Other current payables and accrued expenses  (12,382)  13,919
Other assets  2,877  (21,727)
Other liabilities  8,906  (28,643)

Net cash provided by operating activities  154,030  118,043
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash received (including $15 million of contingent consideration)  (102,500)  —
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (60,244)  (60,689)
Proceeds from life insurance contracts  17,750  793
Maturity of net investment hedges  (472)  626
Proceeds from disposal of assets  2,074  16,467

Net cash used in investing activities  (143,392)  (42,803)
Cash flows from financing activities:     

Cash dividends paid to shareholders  (63,417)  (27,733)
Net change in revolving credit facility borrowings and overdrafts  2,106  (284,061)
Deferred financing costs  (1,023)  (2,786)
Proceeds from long-term debt  —  297,786
Proceeds from issuance of stock under stock plans  1,024  3,566
Excess tax benefits on stock-based payments  5,788  5,172
Purchase of treasury stock  (34,103)  (19,174)

Net cash used in financing activities  (89,625)  (27,230)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  335  (6,535)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (78,652)  41,475
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  405,505  324,422
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 326,853  $ 365,897
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized  $ 23,709  $ 20,955
Income taxes paid  $ 45,484  $ 71,659

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Basis of Presentation

These interim statements and related management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements
and their related notes and management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations, liquidity and capital resources included in our 2013 Annual Report
on Form 10-K (“2013 Form 10-K”). These interim statements are unaudited. The year-end balance sheet data included in this Form 10-Q filing was derived
from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
We have historically operated and continue to operate on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to the last day of the quarter. For ease of
presentation, June 30 and December 31 are used consistently throughout this Form 10-Q and these interim financial statements and related notes to represent
the period-end dates. For the 2014 and 2013 quarters, the actual closing dates were June 27 and June 28, respectively. The unaudited interim financial
statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) and accruals necessary in the judgment of management for a fair
statement of the results for the periods presented. When used herein, the terms “IFF,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” mean International Flavors &
Fragrances Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative guidance clarifying the accounting for the release of
cumulative translation adjustment into net income when a parent either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or no longer holds a controlling
financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or a business within a foreign entity. The guidance is effective prospectively for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of this statement did not have a significant impact on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In July 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidance related to the financial statement presentation of unrecognized tax benefits. This update clarifies
that an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax
asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, except to the extent a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax
loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that
would result from the disallowance of a tax position or the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction does not require the entity to use, and the entity does not
intend to use, the deferred tax asset for such purpose. In such situations, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a
liability and should not be combined with deferred tax assets. The guidance is effective prospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2013. The adoption of this statement did not have a significant impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to clarify the principles to be used to recognize revenue. The guidance is applicable to all entities.
The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. Net Income Per Share:

Net income per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. A reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of basic
and diluted net income per share is as follows: 

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(SHARES IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Basic 80,949  81,309  81,003  81,300
Assumed dilution under stock plans 481  732  580  718
Diluted 81,430  82,041  81,583  82,018

There were no stock options and stock settled appreciation rights (“SSARs”) excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

The Company has issued shares of purchased restricted common stock (“PRS”) which contain rights to nonforfeitable dividends while these shares are
outstanding and thus are considered participating securities which are required to be included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share
pursuant to the two-class method. The Company did not present the
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two-class method since the difference between basic and diluted net income per share for both unrestricted common shareholders and PRS shareholders was
less than $0.01 per share for each period presented and the number of PRS outstanding as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 was immaterial (approximately 0.7% of
the total number of common shares outstanding as of June 30, 2014 and 2013). Net income allocated to such PRS was $0.7 million during each of the three
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and $1.4 million and $1.3 million during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Note 3. Restructuring and Other Charges, Net:

Fragrance Ingredients Rationalization

During the third quarter of 2014, the Company closed its fragrance ingredients manufacturing facility in Augusta, Georgia and consolidated production
into other Company facilities. In connection with this closure, the Company expects to incur charges of $15 - $17 million, consisting primarily of
approximately $11 million in accelerated depreciation of fixed assets, approximately $3 million in personnel-related costs and $2 - $3 million in plant
shutdown and other related costs. The Company recorded total charges of $7.4 million during 2013, consisting of $2.2 million of pre-tax charges related to
severance included in Restructuring and other charges, net and $5.2 million of non-cash charges related to accelerated depreciation included in Cost of goods
sold. During the first quarter of 2014, the Company recorded an additional $0.1 million of severance costs included in Restructuring and other charges, net
and $2.3 million of non-cash charges related to accelerated depreciation included in Cost of goods sold. During the second quarter of 2014, the Company
recorded an additional $0.2 million of plant shutdown and other related costs included in Restructuring and other charges, net and $2.8 million of non-cash
charges related to accelerated depreciation included in Cost of goods sold. The majority of the plant shutdown and other related costs are expected to be
recognized over the balance of the year. As a result of this closure, 43 positions have been or will be eliminated. The Company estimates that approximately
$5 - $7 million of the costs will be or have been cash expenditures.

Changes in employee-related restructuring liabilities during the six months ended June 30, 2014 related to the Fragrance Ingredients Rationalization
were as follows:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Employee-Related
Costs  

Accelerated
Depreciation  Other  Total

December 31, 2013 $ 2,116  $ —  $ —  $ 2,116
Additional charges, net (46)  5,100  350  5,404
Non-cash charges —  (5,100)  —  (5,100)
Payments and other costs (48)  —  (350)  (398)
June 30, 2014 $ 2,022  $ —  $ —  $ 2,022

Note 4. Other Intangible Assets, Net:

Other intangible assets, net consist of the following amounts: 

 June 30,  December 31,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013

Gross carrying value (1) $ 218,676  $ 165,406
Accumulated amortization (138,500)  (134,791)

Total $ 80,176  $ 30,615
 
(1) Includes patents, trademarks, technological know-how and other intellectual property, valued at acquisition.

Aromor

On January 15, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity of Aromor Flavors and Fragrances Ltd. ("Aromor"), a privately
held manufacturer and marketer of complex specialty ingredients that are used in fragrances and flavors. The acquisition was accounted for under the
purchase method. The Company paid $102.6 million (including $0.1 million of cash acquired) for this acquisition, which was funded out of existing cash
resources. Aromor is part of the IFF Fragrances Ingredients business and was acquired in order to strengthen this business and provide cost-effective quality
materials for use in our formula creations. The purchase price exceeded the carrying value of existing net assets by approximately $56 million. The excess
was allocated principally to identifiable intangible assets (approximately $53 million), goodwill (approximately $10 million) and approximately $9 million to
deferred tax liabilities. Separately identifiable intangible assets are principally related to technological know-how. The intangible assets are amortized using
lives ranging from 13-19 years. Additionally, the consideration included $15 million related to post-combination contingent consideration, held in escrow.
This escrowed amount will be expensed by the Company as it is earned by the selling shareholders over three years
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based upon the continued participation in the acquired business of certain key personnel. The purchase price allocation was completed during the second
quarter. No pro forma financial information for 2013 is presented as the impact of the acquisition is immaterial.

Amortization

Amortization expense was $2.8 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively and $3.9 million and $3.0
million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Annual amortization is expected to be $7.8 million for the year 2014, $7.5 million for
the years 2015 through 2017, $7.3 million for the year 2018 and $6.7 million for the year 2019.

Note 5. Borrowings:

Debt consists of the following:

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) Rate  Maturities  June 30, 2014  December 31, 2013

Senior notes - 2007 6.40%  2017-27  $ 500,000  $ 500,000
Senior notes - 2006 6.14%  2016  125,000  125,000
Senior notes - 2013 3.20%  2023  299,767  299,736
Bank overdrafts and other     4,747  984
Deferred realized gains on interest rate swaps     6,159  7,094
     935,673  932,814
Less: Current portion of long-term debt     (3,052)  (149)

     $ 932,621  $ 932,665

On April 4, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries amended and restated the Company’s existing credit agreement with Citibank, N.A., as
administrative agent, to, among other things (i) modify the available tranches of the revolving loan facility provided under the credit agreement (as amended,
the “Credit Facility”), (ii) reduce the applicable margin on the interest rate on advances under the Credit Facility to a range of 0.0% to 0.750% for base rate
advances and 0.750% to 1.750% for Eurocurrency rate advances, depending on the Company’s public debt rating and (iii) extend the maturity date of the
Credit Facility until April 4, 2019. Tranche A of the Credit Facility is available to borrowers in U.S. dollars, euros, Swiss francs, Japanese yen and British
sterling in an aggregate amount up to an equivalent of approximately $456 million, with a sublimit of $25 million for swing line borrowings. Tranche B of the
Credit Facility is available to borrowers in euros, Swiss francs, Japanese yen and British sterling in an aggregate amount up to an equivalent of approximately
$494 million.

Note 6. Income Taxes:

At June 30, 2014, the Company had $23.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits recorded in Other liabilities. If these unrecognized tax benefits were
recognized, the effective tax rate would be affected.

At June 30, 2014, the Company had accrued interest and penalties of $2.3 million classified in Other liabilities.

The Company regularly repatriates a portion of current year earnings from select non–U.S. subsidiaries. No provision is made for additional taxes on
undistributed earnings of subsidiary companies that are intended and planned to be indefinitely invested in such subsidiaries. We intend to, and have plans to,
reinvest these earnings indefinitely in our foreign subsidiaries to fund local operations and/or capital projects.

The Company has ongoing income tax audits and legal proceedings which are at various stages of administrative or judicial review, of which the most
significant items are discussed below. In addition, the Company has other ongoing tax audits and legal proceedings that relate to indirect taxes, such as value-
added taxes, capital tax, sales and use taxes and property taxes, which are discussed in Note 12.

As of June 30, 2014, the Company had one outstanding income tax case in Spain relating to fiscal year 2002. The Company has fully reserved the
assessment originally asserted by the Spanish tax authority. The Company is awaiting a decision on its appeal, and in order to proceed with the appeal, the
Company was required to post a bank guaranty, which as of June 30, 2014, was in the amount of Euro 1.8 million ($2.5 million).

In addition to the above, the Company has also been a party to dividend withholding tax controversies in Spain. At June 30, 2014, the Company had
Euro 4.6 million ($6.2 million) reflected in income taxes payable in connection with three of these cases. The fourth and final remaining case is under appeal
and has not yet been heard by the Spanish Supreme Court, with
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an aggregate value of Euro 3.2 million ($4.5 million), including estimated interest, which is fully reserved as of June 30, 2014. As of June 30, 2014, the
Company had posted bank guarantees of Euro 7.8 million ($10.7 million) associated with the appeals of these matters.

In addition to the Spanish tax controversy, the Company has several other tax audits in process and has open tax years with various taxing jurisdictions
that range primarily from 2004 to 2013. Based on currently available information, we do not believe the ultimate outcome of any of these tax audits and other
tax positions related to open tax years, when finalized, will have a material impact on our financial position.

As of June 30, 2014, the Company’s aggregate provisions for uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties, was $25.5 million, which includes
$2.2 million associated with the tax positions taken by our Spanish subsidiaries for the 2002 fiscal year, $3.8 million associated with our Spanish dividend
withholding tax controversies and the remainder associated with various other tax positions asserted in foreign jurisdictions, none of which is individually
material.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2014 was 24.6% compared with 27.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2013. The
quarter-over-quarter decrease is largely due to higher earnings from low tax jurisdictions and the effect of favorable tax settlements, which were partially
offset by higher repatriation costs. The effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2014 was 25.0% compared with 28.0% for the six months ended
June 30, 2013. The year-over-year decrease is primarily due to a benefit from a litigation ruling during the second quarter of 2014 as well as favorable mix of
earnings and a $6.2 million after-tax Spanish tax charge that was recorded in the first quarter of 2013, which were only partially offset by higher repatriation
costs and the absence of the U.S. R&D tax credit in 2014.

Note 7. Stock Compensation Plans:

The Company has various plans under which its officers, senior management, other key employees and directors may be granted equity-based awards.
Equity awards outstanding under the plans include PRS, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), stock options, SSARs and Long-Term Incentive Plan awards;
liability-based awards outstanding under the plans are cash-settled RSUs.

Stock-based compensation expense and related tax benefits were as follows: 

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Equity-based awards $ 9,338  $ 9,527  $ 14,034  $ 14,050
Liability-based awards 1,519  600  2,764  2,051

Total stock-based compensation expense 10,857  10,127  16,798  16,101
Less: tax benefit (3,345)  (3,114)  (5,071)  (5,021)

Total stock-based compensation expense, after tax $ 7,512  $ 7,013  $ 11,727  $ 11,080

Note 8. Segment Information:

The Company is organized into two operating segments: Flavors and Fragrances. These segments align with the internal structure of the Company used
to manage these businesses. Performance of these operating segments is evaluated based on segment profit which is defined as operating profit before
Restructuring, global expenses (as discussed below) and certain non-recurring items, Interest expense, Other income, net and Taxes on income.

The Global expenses caption below represents corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources, certain
incentive compensation expenses and other R&D and administrative expenses that are not allocated to individual operating segments.
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Reportable segment information is as follows:
 

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Net sales:        
Flavors $ 375,513  $ 374,041  $ 742,018  $ 730,401
Fragrances 412,901  383,594  816,620  755,070

Consolidated $ 788,414  $ 757,635  $ 1,558,638  $ 1,485,471
Segment profit:        

Flavors $ 90,805  $ 89,919  $ 178,869  $ 172,955
Fragrances 85,474  71,913  172,638  140,270
Global expenses (19,869)  (17,169)  (36,303)  (29,761)

Restructuring and other charges, net (182)  (2,105)  (304)  (2,105)
Operational improvement initiative costs (1) (3,113)  (162)  (5,732)  (1,360)
Operating profit 153,115  142,396  309,168  279,999
Interest expense (11,403)  (12,860)  (23,080)  (24,013)
Other income, net 4,641  11,209  3,198  12,282
Income before taxes $ 146,353  $ 140,745  $ 289,286  $ 268,268
 
(1) Operational improvement initiative costs relate to the closing of a smaller facility in Europe and certain manufacturing activities in Asia, while

transferring production to larger facilities in each respective region.

Net sales are attributed to individual regions based upon the destination of product delivery. Net sales related to the U.S. for the three months ended June
30, 2014 and 2013 were $173 million and $175 million, respectively and for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were $332 million and $333
million, respectively. Net sales attributed to all foreign countries in total for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were $615 million and $583
million, respectively and for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were $1,227 million and $1,153 million, respectively. No non-U.S. country had net
sales in any period presented greater than 7.5% of total consolidated net sales.
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Note 9. Employee Benefits:

Pension and other defined contribution retirement plan expenses included the following components:

U.S. Plans Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Service cost for benefits earned $ 885  $ 881  $ 1,769  $ 1,762
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 6,232  5,741  12,463  11,482
Expected return on plan assets (6,913)  (6,557)  (13,826)  (13,114)
Net amortization and deferrals 4,255  5,869  8,509  11,738
Net periodic benefit cost 4,459  5,934  8,915  11,868
Defined contribution and other retirement plans 1,791  2,076  3,902  3,946
Total expense $ 6,250  $ 8,010  $ 12,817  $ 15,814

        

Non-U.S. Plans Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Service cost for benefits earned $ 4,002  $ 4,027  $ 7,950  $ 8,170
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 8,541  7,612  16,952  15,486
Expected return on plan assets (12,675)  (11,695)  (25,155)  (23,794)
Net amortization and deferrals 3,000  2,284  5,954  4,652
Loss due to settlements and special terminations —  35  —  75
Net periodic benefit cost 2,868  2,263  5,701  4,589
Defined contribution and other retirement plans 1,444  987  2,622  2,278
Total expense $ 4,312  $ 3,250  $ 8,323  $ 6,867

The Company expects to contribute approximately $21 million to its non-U.S. pension plans and approximately $20 million to its qualified U.S. pension
plans during 2014. In the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, $4.5 million and $9.8 million of contributions were made to the non-U.S. plans,
respectively. In the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, $1.0 million and $2.1 million of benefit payments were made with respect to the Company’s
non-qualified U.S. pension plan, respectively.

Expense recognized for postretirement benefits other than pensions included the following components: 

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013  2014  2013

Service cost for benefits earned $ 323  $ 362  $ 645  $ 724
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,238  1,168  2,475  2,336
Net amortization and deferrals (979)  (663)  (1,958)  (1,326)
Total postretirement benefit expense $ 582  $ 867  $ 1,162  $ 1,734

The Company expects to contribute approximately $5 million to its postretirement benefits other than pension plans during 2014. In the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014, $1.7 million and $3.3 million of contributions were made, respectively.

Note 10. Financial Instruments:

Fair Value

Accounting guidance on fair value measurements specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market
assumptions. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1–Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
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• Level 2–Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and
model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

• Level 3–Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value.
We determine the fair value of structured liabilities (where performance is linked to structured interest rates, inflation or currency risks) using the LIBOR
swap curve and forward interest and exchange rates at period end. Such instruments are classified as Level 2 based on the observability of significant inputs
to the model. We do not have any instruments classified as Level 1 or Level 3, other than those included in pension asset trusts as discussed in Note 13 of our
2013 Form 10-K.

These valuations take into consideration our credit risk and our counterparties’ credit risk. The estimated change in the fair value of these instruments
due to such changes in our own credit risk (or instrument-specific credit risk) was immaterial as of June 30, 2014.

The amounts recorded in the balance sheet (carrying amount) and the estimated fair values of financial instruments at June 30, 2014 and December 31,
2013 consisted of the following: 

 June 30, 2014  December 31, 2013

 

Carrying
Amount  

Fair
Value  

Carrying
Amount  

Fair
Value

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)        

Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 326,853  $ 326,853  $ 405,505  $ 405,505
Credit facilities and bank overdrafts (2) 4,747  4,747  984  984
Long-term debt: (3)        

Senior notes - 2007 500,000  596,115  500,000  590,024
Senior notes - 2006 125,000  136,148  125,000  139,146
Senior notes - 2013 299,767  292,620  299,736  278,770

 
(1) The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments.
(2) The carrying amount of our credit facilities and bank overdrafts approximates fair value as the interest rate is reset frequently based on current market

rates as well as the short maturity of those instruments.
(3) The fair value of our long-term debt was calculated using discounted cash flows applying current interest rates and current credit spreads based on our

own credit risk.

Derivatives

We periodically enter into foreign currency forward contracts with the objective of reducing exposure to cash flow volatility associated with our
intercompany loans, foreign currency receivables and payables, and anticipated purchases of certain raw materials used in operations. These contracts
generally involve the exchange of one currency for a second currency at a future date, have maturities not exceeding twelve months and are with
counterparties which are major international financial institutions.

In 2003, we executed a 10-year Yen - U.S. dollar currency swap related to the monthly sale and purchase of products between the U.S. and Japan which
had been designated as a cash flow hedge. This swap matured in January 2013.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014 and the year ended December 31, 2013, we entered into forward currency contracts which qualified as net
investment hedges, in order to mitigate a portion of our net European investments from foreign currency risk. The effective portions of net investment hedges
are recorded in Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) as a component of Foreign currency translation adjustments in the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Realized gains (losses) are deferred in AOCI where they will remain until the net investments in our European
subsidiaries are divested. Three of these forward currency contracts matured during the six months ended June 30, 2014. The outstanding forward currency
contracts have remaining maturities of approximately one year.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014 and the year ended December 31, 2013, we entered into several forward currency contracts which qualified
as cash flow hedges. The objective of these hedges is to protect against the currency risk
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associated with forecasted U.S. dollar (USD) denominated raw material purchases made by Euro (EUR) functional currency entities which result from
changes in the EUR/USD exchange rate. The effective portions of cash flow hedges are recorded in OCI as a component of Gains/(losses) on derivatives
qualifying as hedges in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Realized gains/(losses) in AOCI related to cash flow hedges of
raw material purchases are recognized as a component of Cost of goods sold in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the
same period as the related costs are recognized.

During Q1 2013, we entered into three interest rate swaps to hedge the anticipated issuance of fixed-rate debt, which are designated as cash flow
hedges. The effective portions of cash flow hedges are recorded in OCI as a component of Losses on derivatives qualifying as hedges in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. During the second quarter of 2013, we terminated these swaps and incurred a loss of $2.7 million, which
we will amortize as Interest expense over the life of the Senior Notes - 2013 (discussed in Note 8 of our 2013 Form 10-K).

During Q3 2013, we entered into multiple interest rate swap agreements that effectively converted the fixed rate on a portion of our long-term
borrowings to a variable short-term rate based on the LIBOR plus an interest markup. These swaps are designated as fair value hedges. Amounts recognized
in Interest expense were immaterial for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014.

The following table shows the notional amount of the Company’s derivative instruments outstanding as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) June 30, 2014  December 31, 2013

Foreign currency contracts $ 204,500  $ 255,500
Interest rate swaps $ 375,000  $ 375,000

The following tables show the Company’s derivative instruments measured at fair value (Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy), as reflected in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

 June 30, 2014

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Fair Value of
Derivatives

Designated as
Hedging

Instruments  

Fair Value of
Derivatives Not
Designated as

Hedging
Instruments  

Total Fair
Value

Derivative assets (a)      
Foreign currency contracts $ 1,234  $ 55  $ 1,289
Interest rate swaps 1,726  —  1,726

 $ 2,960  $ 55  $ 3,015
Derivative liabilities (b)      

Foreign currency contracts $ 2,264  $ 308  $ 2,572

 December 31, 2013

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Fair Value of
Derivatives

Designated as
Hedging

Instruments  

Fair Value of
Derivatives Not
Designated as

Hedging
Instruments  

Total Fair
Value

Derivative assets (a)      
Foreign currency contracts $ 580  $ 8,896  $ 9,476
Interest rate swaps 670  —  670

 $ 1,250  $ 8,896  $ 10,146
Derivative liabilities (b)      

Foreign currency contracts $ 6,024  $ 2,909  $ 8,933
 

(a) Derivative assets are recorded to Prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
(b) Derivative liabilities are recorded as Other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The following table shows the effect of the Company’s derivative instruments which were not designated as hedging instruments in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands): 

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on

Derivative  
Location of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income

on Derivative

 Three Months Ended June 30,   

 2014  2013   

Foreign currency contracts $ 3,465  $ 4,330  Other income, net

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on

Derivative  
Location of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income

on Derivative

 Six Months Ended June 30,   

 2014  2013   

Foreign currency contracts $ 538  $ 12,507  Other income, net

Most of these net gains (losses) offset any recognized gains (losses) arising from the revaluation of the related intercompany loans during the same
respective periods.
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The following table shows the effect of the Company’s derivative instruments designated as cash flow and net investment hedging instruments in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands): 

 

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in OCI on
Derivative (Effective

Portion)  
Location of (Loss) Gain

Reclassified from AOCI into
Income (Effective Portion)  

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into
Income (Effective

Portion)

 Three Months Ended June 30,    Three Months Ended June 30,

 2014  2013    2014  2013

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships:          
Cross currency swap (1) $ —  $ —  Other income, net  $ —  $ (118)
Foreign currency contracts 1,530  (702)  Cost of goods sold  (725)  (151)
Interest rate swaps (2) 68  (1,473)  Interest expense  (68)  (68)
Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging
Relationships:          
Foreign currency contracts 673  (343)  N/A  —  —
Total $ 2,271  $ (2,518)    $ (793)  $ (337)

          

 

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in OCI on
Derivative (Effective

Portion)  
Location of (Loss) Gain

Reclassified from AOCI into
Income (Effective Portion)  

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into
Income (Effective

Portion)

 Six Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,

 2014  2013    2014  2013

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships:          
Cross currency swap (1) $ —  $ —  Other income, net  $ —  $ (333)
Foreign currency contracts 1,921  320  Cost of goods sold  (1,478)  1,562
Interest rate swaps (2) 137  (2,667)  Interest expense  (137)  $ (68)
Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging
Relationships:          
Foreign currency contracts 298  1,642  N/A  —  —
Total $ 2,356  $ (705)    $ (1,615)  $ 1,161
 
(1) Ten year swap executed in 2003.
(2) Interest rate swaps were entered into as pre-issuance hedges for the $300 million bond offering.

No ineffectiveness was experienced in the above noted cash flow hedges during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013. The ineffective
portion of the net investment hedges was not material during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

The Company expects that approximately $2.3 million (net of tax) of derivative losses included in AOCI at June 30, 2014, based on current market
rates, will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. The majority of this amount will vary due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates.
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Note 11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

The following tables present changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive income, including current period other
comprehensive income and reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income:

 

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments  

(Losses) Gains on
Derivatives

Qualifying as
Hedges  

Pension and
Postretirement

Liability
Adjustment  Total

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)        

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax,
as of December 31, 2013 $ (104,278)  $ (4,012)  $ (284,421)  $ (392,711)

OCI before reclassifications (1,826)  443  —  (1,383)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI —  1,615  8,765  10,380

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) (1,826)  2,058  8,765  8,997
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax,
as of June 30, 2014 $ (106,104)  $ (1,954)  $ (275,656)  $ (383,714)
 

 

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments  

(Losses) Gains on
Derivatives

Qualifying as
Hedges  

Pension and
Postretirement

Liability
Adjustment  Total

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)        

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax,
as of December 31, 2012 $ (93,722)  $ (218)  $ (309,685)  $ (403,625)

OCI before reclassifications (16,825)  (1,141)  —  (17,966)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI —  (1,161)  10,220  9,059

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) (16,825)  (2,302)  10,220  (8,907)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax,
as of June 30, 2013 $ (110,547)  $ (2,520)  $ (299,465)  $ (412,532)
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The following table provides details about reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income to the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income: 

 
Six Months Ended June

30, 2014  
Six Months Ended June

30, 2013  
Affected Line Item in the
Consolidated Statement

of Comprehensive  Income

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)      

(Losses) gains on derivatives qualifying as hedges      
Cross currency swap $ —  $ (333)  Other income, net
Foreign currency contracts (2,038)  2,155  Cost of goods sold
Interest rate swaps (137)  (68)  Interest expense

 560  (593)  Provision for income taxes

 $ (1,615)  $ 1,161  Total, net of income taxes

(Losses) gains on pension and postretirement liability adjustments      
Settlements / Curtailments $ —  $ (75)  (a) 
Prior service cost (14,729)  2,197  (a) 
Actuarial losses 2,224  (17,261)  (a) 

 3,740  4,919  Provision for income taxes

 $ (8,765)  $ (10,220)  Total, net of income taxes
 
(a) The amortization of prior service cost and actuarial loss is included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. Refer to Note 13 of our 2013 Form

10-K for additional information regarding net periodic benefit cost.

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies:

Guarantees and Letters of Credit

The Company has various bank guarantees and letters of credit which are available for use regarding governmental requirements associated with
pending litigation in various jurisdictions and to support its ongoing business operations.

At June 30, 2014, we had total bank guarantees and standby letters of credit of approximately $43.7 million with various financial institutions. Of this
amount, Euro 9.6 million ($13.2 million) in bank guarantees are related to governmental requirements on income tax disputes in Spain, as discussed in further
detail in Note 9 of our 2013 Form 10-K. Also included in the above aggregate amount is a total of $23.6 million in bank guarantees which the Company has
posted for certain assessments in Brazil for other diverse income tax and indirect tax disputes related to fiscal years 1998-2011. There were no material
amounts utilized under the standby letters of credit as of June 30, 2014.

In order to challenge the assessments in these cases in Brazil, the Company has been required to, and has separately pledged assets, principally property,
plant and equipment, to cover assessments in the amount of approximately $20.6 million as of June 30, 2014.

Lines of Credit

The Company has various lines of credit which are available to support its ongoing business operations. At June 30, 2014, we had available lines of
credit (in addition to the Credit Facility discussed in Note 5) of approximately $86.8 million with various financial institutions. There were no significant
amounts drawn down pursuant to these lines of credit as of June 30, 2014.
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Litigation

The Company assesses contingencies related to litigation and/or other matters to determine the degree of probability and range of possible loss. A loss
contingency is accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing contingencies is highly sensitive and
requires judgments about future events. On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews contingencies related to litigation to determine the adequacy of
accruals. The amount of ultimate loss may differ from these estimates and further events may require the Company to increase or decrease the amounts it has
accrued on any matter.

Periodically, we assess our insurance coverage for all known claims, where applicable, taking into account aggregate coverage by occurrence, limits of
coverage, self-insured retentions and deductibles, historical claims experience and claims experience with our insurance carriers. The liabilities are recorded
at management’s best estimate of the probable outcome of the lawsuits and claims, taking into consideration the facts and circumstances of the individual
matters as well as past experience on similar matters. At each balance sheet date, the key issues that management assesses are whether it is probable that a
loss as to asserted or unasserted claims has been incurred and if so, whether the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. We record the expected liability
with respect to claims in Other liabilities and expected recoveries from our insurance carriers in Other assets. We recognize a receivable when we believe that
realization of the insurance receivable is probable under the terms of the insurance policies and our payment experience to date.

Environmental

Over the past 20 years, various federal and state authorities and private parties have claimed that we are a Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”) as a
generator of waste materials for alleged pollution at a number of waste sites operated by third parties located principally in New Jersey and have sought to
recover costs incurred and to be incurred to clean up the sites.

We have been identified as a PRP at eight facilities operated by third parties at which investigation and/or remediation activities may be ongoing. We
analyze our potential liability on at least a quarterly basis. We accrue for environmental liabilities when they are probable and estimable. We estimate our
share of the total future cost for these sites to be less than $5 million.

While joint and several liability is authorized under federal and state environmental laws, we believe the amounts we have paid and anticipate paying in
the future for clean-up costs and damages at all sites are not material and will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity. This assessment is based upon, among other things, the involvement of other PRPs at most of the sites, the status of the proceedings,
including various settlement agreements and consent decrees, and the extended time period over which payments will likely be made. There can be no
assurance, however, that future events will not require us to materially increase the amounts we anticipate paying for clean-up costs and damages at these
sites, and that such increased amounts will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Other Contingencies

The Company has contingencies involving third parties (such as labor, contract, technology or product-related claims or litigation) as well as
government-related items in various jurisdictions in which we operate pertaining to such items as value-added taxes, other indirect taxes, customs and duties
and sales and use taxes. It is possible that cash flows or results of operations, in any period, could be materially affected by the unfavorable resolution of one
or more of these contingencies.

The most significant government-related contingencies exist in Brazil. With regard to the Brazilian matters, we believe we have valid defenses for the
underlying positions under dispute; however, in order to pursue these defenses, we are required to, and have provided, bank guarantees and pledged assets in
the aggregate amount of $44.2 million. The Brazilian matters take an extended period of time to proceed through the judicial process and there are a limited
number of rulings to date.

In March 2012, ZoomEssence, Inc. filed a complaint against the Company in the U.S. District Court of New Jersey alleging trade secret
misappropriation, breach of contract and unjust enrichment in connection with certain spray dry technology disclosed to the Company. In connection with the
claims, ZoomEssence is seeking an injunction and monetary damages. ZoomEssence initially sought a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction,
but the Court denied these applications in an order entered on September 27, 2013, finding that ZoomEssence had not demonstrated a likelihood of success on
the merits of its claims. The Court subsequently referred the matter to mediation, however the private mediation session did not result in a resolution of the
dispute. The case is currently proceeding through general discovery with a trial on the merits anticipated in mid-2015. The Company denies the allegations
and will vigorously defend its position in Court. At this
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preliminary stage of the litigation, based on the information currently available to the Company, management does not believe that this matter represents a
material loss contingency.

Based on the information available as of June 30, 2014, we estimate a range of reasonably possible loss related to the matters above, collectively, is
$3-$20 million.

Separately, the Spanish tax authorities are alleging claims for a capital tax in a case arising from similar allegations as the income tax cases (discussed in
further detail in Note 9 of our 2013 Form 10-K). In connection with the 2002 income tax assessment ruling the Appellate Court rejected one of the two bases
upon which we based our capital tax position. However, we believe that we still have a strong basis for our capital tax position and intend to continue to
defend these claims. If there is an unfavorable ruling in this case, we estimate a reasonably possible loss of approximately $13 million, which is fully reserved
as of June 30, 2014. On January 22, 2014, we filed an appeal and in order to avoid future interest costs in the event our appeal is unsuccessful, we paid $11.2
million (representing the principal amount) during the first quarter of 2014.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We create, manufacture and supply flavors and fragrances for the food, beverage, personal care and household-products industries either in the form of
compounds or individual ingredients. Our flavors and fragrance compounds combine a large number of ingredients that are blended, mixed or reacted
together to produce proprietary formulas created by our perfumers and flavorists.

Flavors are the key building blocks that impart taste in processed food and beverage products and, as such, play a significant role in determining
consumer preference of the end products in which they are used. While we are a global leader, our flavors business is more regional in nature, with different
formulas that reflect local tastes and ingredients. As a leading creator of flavors, we help our customers deliver on the promise of delicious and healthy foods
and drinks that appeal to consumers. Our flavors compounds are ultimately used by our customers in four end-use categories: (1) Savory, (2) Beverages,
(3) Sweet, pharmaceutical and oral care (“Sweet”), and (4) Dairy.

Our fragrances are a key component in the world’s finest perfumes and best-known consumer brands, including beauty care, fabric care, personal wash
and home care products. During the first quarter of 2014, we announced that we realigned our creative and commercial teams within our Fragrance
Compounds activities to newly-defined broad market categories, (1) Fine Fragrances and (2) Consumer Fragrances. Consumer Fragrances consists of five
end-use categories: Fabric Care, Home Care, Personal Wash, Hair Care and Toiletries. In addition, our Fragrance Ingredients are used internally and sold to
third parties, including customers and competitors, for use in preparation of compounds. Previously, our Fragrance Compounds were aligned into two broad
categories (1) Fine Fragrance and Beauty Care and (2) Functional Fragrances.

The flavors and fragrances market is part of a larger market which supplies a variety of ingredients and components that consumer products companies
utilize in their products. The broader market includes large multinational companies or smaller regional and local participants which supply products such as
seasonings, texturizers, spices, enzymes, certain food-related commodities, fortified products and cosmetic ingredients. The flavors and fragrances market is
estimated to be approximately $18 billion; however the exact size of the global market is not available due to fragmentation of data. We, together with the
other top three companies, are estimated to comprise approximately two-thirds of the total estimated sales in the global flavors and fragrances sub-segment of
the broader market.

In the second quarter of 2013, we announced our intention to close our fragrance ingredients manufacturing facility in Augusta, Georgia, supporting our
objective to ensure operations are cost efficient and competitive. We closed the facility during the third quarter of 2014 and have consolidated production into
other facilities, as further discussed in Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net sales growth during the second quarter of 2014 was 4% on both a reported and local currency (LC) basis (which excludes the effects of changes in
currency), with the acquisition of Aromor adding approximately 1% to both reported and local currency basis amounts. The LC growth reflects good new win
performance (net of losses) in both Flavors and Fragrance Compounds as well as strong sales of specialty ingredients within Fragrance Ingredients, (including
revenue from Aromor), offset by higher volume erosion on existing business, particularly in Flavors. We expect that the higher levels of erosion on base
business in Flavors will continue in the near-term, particularly in the third quarter. As a result, we now expect that full year 2014 LC sales growth will be 4-
6%.

Exchange rate fluctuations had no impact on net sales for the second quarter. The effect of exchange rates can vary by business and region, depending
upon the mix of sales by destination country as well as the relative percentage of local sales priced in U.S. dollars versus local currencies.

Gross margins improved versus the second quarter of 2013. The improvement reflects cost savings initiatives, currency benefits and favorable net
impact of input costs to pricing, partially offset by cost increases and a weaker sales mix when compared to the second quarter of 2013. The raw material cost
environment was moderately favorable year over year, however the overall cost base remains elevated including certain key supplies where prices are still
near all-time highs. While there continues to be economic uncertainty and market volatility of our crop-related raw materials, we continue to believe cost
pressures will develop in the second half of the year. As a result, we continue to seek improvements in our margins through operational performance and mix
enhancement. While we continue to target year-over-year expansion in our gross margins, we expect that the rate of improvement during 2014 versus 2013
will be substantially less given the strong improvement realized during 2013. Included in the second quarter of 2014 is $3.3 million of costs associated with
restructuring and operational improvement initiatives. During the fourth quarter of 2013, we completed the testing and start-up process at our Flavors
compounding facility in China and began commercial production, which has resulted in higher depreciation expense and other operating costs associated with
the commercial start-up. These incremental costs partially offset the benefits realized from the restructuring and operational improvement initiatives.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Reported and LC sales in the second quarter of 2014 increased approximately 4% (including 1% growth from the acquisition of Aromor) reflecting the
strength of our broad and diverse portfolio of end-use product categories and geographies. The overall increase was driven by new win performance in both
Flavors and Fragrance Compounds as well as strong sales of specialty ingredients within Fragrance Ingredients (which includes the benefit of the Aromor
acquisition). These increases were offset by higher volume erosion on existing business, particularly in Flavors. Flavors realized LC growth of 1% for the
second quarter of 2014. Our Fragrance business achieved LC growth of 6%, compared with LC sales in the second quarter of 2013. Fragrances performance
reflects new win performance in our Fragrance Compounds end-use categories, led by sales in Fabric Care, Personal Wash, Toiletries and Fine Fragrance.
Overall, our second quarter 2014 results continued to be driven by our strong emerging market presence that represented 49% of sales and experienced 5%
LC growth. From a geographic perspective, for the second quarter, the Latin America (LA), Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME), Greater Asia (GA) and
North America (NOAM) regions all delivered LC growth in 2014, led by LA, with 7% LC growth.

Operating profit increased $10.7 million to $153.1 million (19.4% of sales) in the 2014 second quarter compared to $142.4 million (18.8% of sales) in
the comparable 2013 period. The three months ended June 30, 2014 included restructuring and operational improvement initiative costs of $3.3 million.
Excluding these charges, adjusted operating profit was $156.4 million (19.8% of sales) for the first quarter of 2014. The quarter-over-quarter improvement
also reflects gross margin expansion that collectively more than offset the effects of higher R&D, selling and administrative costs. The results of Aromor were
not significant to the consolidated financial performance of the Company for the second quarter of 2014.

Other income, net decreased $6.6 million to $4.6 million of income in the second quarter of 2014 compared to $11.2 million of income in the second
quarter of 2013. The year-over-year decrease is primarily driven by the inclusion of a $16.1 million gain related to the sale of a non-operating asset in the
second quarter of 2013, offset by year-over-year improvement on foreign currency gains (losses). Excluding the gain in the 2013 period, adjusted Other
income, net increased $9.5 million in 2014 compared to 2013.

Net income increased by $8.0 million quarter-over-quarter to $110.3 million for the first quarter of 2014. However, the prior year period included a
$16.1 million gain ($10.5 million net of tax) on the sale of assets as discussed above.

We continue to execute against our strategic priorities of leveraging our geographic reach, strengthening our innovation platform and maximizing our
portfolio during the second quarter of 2014. By maintaining cost discipline and realizing productivity gains across many parts of the business, we believe that
we can continue to fund investments in resources and capabilities in emerging markets, R&D and key technologies. In 2014, we believe that capital spending
will approach 4-5% of sales as we continue to prioritize investments in emerging markets and Flavors.

Cash flows from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2014 were $154.0 million or 9.9% of sales, compared to cash inflow from operations of
$118.0 million or 7.9% of sales for the six months ended June 30, 2013. The increase in cash flow from operations in 2014 primarily reflects the absence of
the $30 million pension contribution payment included in the 2013 period.

 20  



Results of Operations
 

 Three Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,   
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS
EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2014  2013  Change  2014  2013  Change

Net sales $ 788,414  $ 757,635  4 %  $ 1,558,638  $ 1,485,471  5 %
Cost of goods sold 435,767  423,649  3 %  864,579  840,125  3 %
Gross profit 352,647  333,986    694,059  645,346   
Research and development (R&D)
expenses 66,431  64,672  3 %  127,934  123,774  3 %
Selling and administrative (S&A)
expenses 132,919  124,813  6 %  256,653  239,468  7 %
Restructuring and other charges, net 182  2,105  (91)%  304  2,105  (86)%
Operating profit 153,115  142,396    309,168  279,999   
Interest expense 11,403  12,860  (11)%  23,080  24,013  (4)%
Other expense (income), net (4,641)  (11,209)  (59)%  (3,198)  (12,282)  (74)%
Income before taxes 146,353  140,745    289,286  268,268   
Taxes on income 36,068  38,423  (6)%  72,294  75,248  (4)%
Net income $ 110,285  $ 102,322  8 %  $ 216,992  $ 193,020  12 %
Diluted EPS $ 1.35  $ 1.24  9 %  $ 2.64  $ 2.34  13 %
Gross margin 44.7%  44.1%  60  44.5%  43.4%  110
R&D as a percentage of sales 8.4%  8.5%  (10)  8.2%  8.3%  (10)
S&A as a percentage of sales 16.9%  16.5%  40  16.5%  16.1%  40
Operating margin 19.4%  18.8%  60  19.8%  18.8%  100
Adjusted operating margin (1) 19.8%  19.2%  60  20.2%  19.1%  110
Effective tax rate 24.6%  27.3%  (270)  25.0%  28.0%  (300)
Segment net sales            
Flavors $ 375,513  $ 374,041  0 %  $ 742,018  $ 730,401  2 %
Fragrances 412,901  383,594  8 %  816,620  755,070  8 %
Consolidated $ 788,414  $ 757,635    $ 1,558,638  $ 1,485,471   
 

(1) Adjusted operating margin excludes the Restructuring and other charges, net and operational improvement initiative costs of $3.3 million and $6.0
million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively and $3.1 million and $4.3 million of Restructuring and other charges, net and
operational improvement initiative costs for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively.

Cost of goods sold includes the cost of materials and manufacturing expenses. R&D expenses relate to the development of new and improved products,
technical product support and compliance with governmental regulations. S&A expenses include expenses necessary to support our commercial activities and
administrative expenses supporting our overall operating activities.

SECOND QUARTER 2014 IN COMPARISON TO SECOND QUARTER 2013

Sales

Sales for the second quarter of 2014 totaled $788.4 million, an increase of 4% from the prior year quarter for both reported and LC sales (including 1%
growth from the acquisition of Aromor), as a result of new wins in both Flavors and Fragrance Compounds and strong Fragrance Ingredients LC sales, offset
by higher volume erosion on existing business, particularly in Flavors. Overall LC growth was driven by 5% growth in emerging markets (prior to the impact
of Aromor).
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Flavors Business Unit

Flavors reported sales growth was flat and LC sales growth was 1% during the second quarter of 2014 compared to the 2013 period. The overall
performance reflects new wins offset by higher erosion on existing business. Overall modest growth in Sweet was largely offset by overall declines in Savory.
The Flavors business delivered LC growth in LA and EAME, led by LA, while sales were flat in GA and declined in NOAM. Sales in LA were driven by
high double-digit gains in Beverage. Sales in EAME were driven by mid single-digit gains in Beverage. The declines in NOAM were primarily driven by
double-digit declines in Beverage.

Fragrances Business Unit

The Fragrances business experienced an 8% increase in reported sales and a 6% increase in LC sales for the second quarter of 2014 compared to the
second quarter of 2013 (including approximately 2% growth from the acquisition of Aromor). The overall increase was driven by new wins in our Fragrance
Compounds categories as well as strong sales of specialty ingredients, including Aromor, within Fragrance Ingredients. Our Fragrance Compounds and
Fragrance Ingredients categories saw LC sales grow 4% and 21%, respectively, over the prior year period. Fragrance Ingredients includes approximately 17%
growth from Aromor. Within Fragrance Compounds, sales were driven by mid to high single-digit growth in Fabric Care, Personal Wash and Toiletries.

Sales Performance by Region and Category
 

  % Change in Sales-Second Quarter 2014 vs. Second Quarter 2013

  Fine Fragrances  Consumer Fragrances  Ingredients  Total Frag.  Flavors  Total

NOAM Reported 0 %  15 %  4 %  8%  -4 %  1%
EAME Reported -1 %  4 %  34 %  8%  6 %  7%
 Local Currency (1) -7 %  -1 %  28 %  2%  2 %  2%
LA Reported 10 %  -1 %  -4 %  1%  11 %  4%
 Local Currency (1) 14 %  1 %  -4 %  4%  15 %  7%
GA Reported 14 %  8 %  61 %  14%  -4 %  3%
 Local Currency (1) 14 %  10 %  63 %  16%  0 %  6%
Total Reported 2 %  6 %  23 %  8%  0 %  4%
 Local Currency (1) 0 %  5 %  21 %  6%  1 %  4%
(1) Local currency sales growth is calculated by translating prior year sales at the exchange rates for the corresponding 2014 period.

• NOAM Flavors sales decreased 4% as a result of low single-digit gains in Sweet and Dairy that were more than offset by double-digit declines in
Beverage, driven by higher erosion on existing business. NOAM Fragrance sales increased 8% in the second quarter of 2014, principally due to high
double-digit gains in Home Care and Personal Wash as well as double-digit gains in Fabric Care and Hair Care.

• EAME Flavors LC sales growth of 2% was led by mid single-digit growth in Beverage and low single-digit growth in Sweet, which was only
partially offset by low single-digit declines in Savory. EAME Fragrance LC sales increased 2% overall, driven mainly by double-digit growth in
Toiletries and high single-digit growth in Fragrance Ingredients, which were partially offset by declines in the Home Care, Personal Wash and Fine
Fragrance categories.

• LA Flavors LC sales were up 15% as new wins drove high double-digit gains in Beverage, which were partially offset by low double-digit declines
in Sweet. LA Fragrances LC sales increased 4% overall, principally led by double-digit gains in Fine Fragrance, Personal Wash and Hair Care
categories, which were partially offset by single-digit declines in Home Care, Fabric Care and Fragrance Ingredients.

• GA Flavors had flat LC sales growth as single-digit gains in Savory and Sweet were equally offset by single-digit declines in Beverage and Dairy.
GA Fragrances LC sales growth of 16% was driven by high double-digit growth in Fragrance Ingredients as well as double-digit growth in Fabric
Care, Personal Wash, Home Care and Fine Fragrance categories.
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Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold, as a percentage of sales, decreased 60 bps to 55.3% in the second quarter of 2014 compared to 55.9% in the second quarter of 2013.
The improvement versus last year was mainly driven by cost savings initiatives, currency benefits and favorable net impact of input costs to pricing, partially
offset by cost increases and a weaker sales mix on a year-over-year basis.

Research and Development (R&D) Expenses

Overall R&D expenses, as a percentage of sales, remained relatively consistent with prior year at 8.4% in the second quarter of 2014 versus 8.5% in the
second quarter of 2013.

Selling and Administrative (S&A) Expenses

S&A expenses increased $8.1 million or 16.9%, as a percentage of sales, in the second quarter of 2014 versus 16.5% in the second quarter of 2013. The
$8.1 million increase reflects Aromor-related expenses, investment in commercial resources to support our three-pillar strategy, currency impacts and several
discrete items in 2014 that were partially offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.

Operating Results by Business Unit

We evaluate the performance of business units based on segment profit which is defined as operating profit before Restructuring, global expenses (as
discussed in Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements) and certain non-recurring items, net, Interest expense, Other income, net and Taxes on income.
See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the reconciliation to Income before taxes. 

 Three Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013

Segment profit:    
Flavors $ 90,805  $ 89,919
Fragrances 85,474  71,913
Global (19,869)  (17,169)

Restructuring and other charges, net (182)  (2,105)
Operational improvement initiative costs (3,113)  (162)
Operating profit $ 153,115  $ 142,396
Profit margin    

Flavors 24.2%  24.0%
Fragrances 20.7%  18.7%
Consolidated 19.4%  18.8%

Flavors Segment Profit

Flavors segment profit grew approximately 1% to $90.8 million in the second quarter of 2014, or 24.2% as a percentage of sales, compared to $89.9
million, or 24.0% as a percentage of sales, in the comparable 2013 period. The improvement in segment profit and profit margin was driven primarily by
lower incentive compensation expense.

Fragrances Segment Profit

Fragrances segment profit grew approximately 19% to $85.5 million in the second quarter of 2014, or 20.7% as a percentage of sales, compared to
$71.9 million, or 18.7% as a percentage of sales, in the comparable 2013 period. The improvement in segment profit and profit margin was primarily driven
by gross margin expansion.

Global Expenses

Global expenses represent corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources and R&D and other
administrative expenses that are not allocated to an individual business unit. In the second quarter of 2014, Global expenses were $19.9 million compared to
$17.2 million during the second quarter of 2013. The increase primarily reflects expense associated with the deferred compensation plan arrangements as well
as unfavorable impacts on our cash flow hedging program.
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Restructuring and Other Charges, Net

Restructuring and other charges, net in 2014 consist of separation costs for employees, including severance, outplacement and other benefit costs,
relating to the Fragrance Ingredients Rationalization that started in the second quarter of 2013 related to the closing of the fragrance ingredients
manufacturing facility in Augusta, Georgia. The facility was closed during the third quarter of 2014. During the second quarter of 2014, the Company
recorded $0.2 million of plant shutdown and other related costs included in Restructuring and other charges, net and $2.8 million of non-cash charges related
to accelerated depreciation included in Cost of goods sold. As a result of this closure, 43 positions have been or will be eliminated. The Company estimates
that approximately $5 - $7 million of the costs will be or have been cash expenditures.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $1.5 million to $11.4 million in the second quarter of 2014 compared to the second quarter of 2013, as a result of the
refinancing of our debt in 2013. Average cost of debt was 4.9% for the 2014 three month period compared to 4.4% in the 2013 three month period.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net decreased by approximately $6.6 million to $4.6 million of income in the second quarter of 2014 versus $11.2 million of income in
the comparable 2013 period. The decrease over the prior year period was driven largely by the 2013 period including a $16.1 million gain related to the sale
of a non-operating asset, offset by year-over-year improvement on foreign currency gains/(losses).

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2014 was 24.6% compared with 27.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2013. Excluding
the impact of taxes related to restructuring and other charges in the current quarter, and the tax charge related to the sale of a non-operating asset in the prior
year quarter, the second quarter 2014 adjusted effective tax rate was 24.9%, or 160 basis points lower than the second quarter 2013 adjusted effective tax rate
of 26.5%. The decrease in the adjusted effective tax rate was primarily driven by higher earnings from low tax jurisdictions and the effect of favorable tax
settlements, which were partially offset by higher repatriation costs.

FIRST SIX MONTHS OF 2014 IN COMPARISON TO FIRST SIX MONTHS OF 2013

Sales

Sales for the first six months of 2014 totaled $1.6 billion, an increase of 5% from the prior year quarter for both reported and LC sales (including 1%
growth from the acquisition of Aromor), as a result of new wins in both Flavors and Fragrance Compounds and strong Fragrance Ingredients LC sales.
Overall LC growth was driven by 6% growth in emerging markets.

Flavors Business Unit

Flavors sales increased 2% for the first six months of 2014 compared to the 2013 period. Excluding the impact of foreign currency, LC sales for the
Flavors business increased 3% during the first six month of 2014 compared to the 2013 period. The overall increase was driven by new wins and favorable
sales mix. On an end-use product category basis, LC growth was led by mid single-digit growth in Beverage followed by low single-digit growth in Savory
and Dairy. The Flavors business delivered LC growth in LA, GA and EAME, led by LA. Sales in LA were driven by high double-digit gains in Beverage.
Sales in GA were driven by mid single-digit growth in Savory and Dairy and low single-digit growth in Sweet. Sales in EAME were driven by mid single-
digit gains in Beverage and Dairy. Sales declines in NOAM were primarily driven by high single-digit declines in Beverage due to higher erosion on existing
business and low single-digit declines in Sweet, Savory and Dairy.

Fragrances Business Unit

The Fragrances business experienced a 8% increase for the first six months of 2014 compared to the 2013 period. Excluding the impact of foreign
currency, LC sales for the Fragrances business increased 7% versus 5% growth in LC sales during the first six months of 2013. Our Fragrance Compounds
and Fragrance Ingredients categories saw LC sales grow 5% and 21%, respectively, over the prior year period. Approximately 2% of the Fragrance business
unit and 15% of the Ingredients business growth was associated with the acquisition of Aromor. Within Fragrance Compounds, sales were driven by mid to
high single-digit growth in Fabric Care, Hair Care, and Fine Fragrances.
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Sales Performance by Region and Category
 

  % Change in Sales-First Six Months 2014 vs. First Six Months 2013

  Fine Fragrances  
Consumer
Fragrances  Ingredients  Total Frag.  Flavors  Total

NOAM Reported 11 %  10 %  1 %  8 %  -4 %  1%
EAME Reported 10 %  2 %  40 %  11 %  5 %  9%
 Local Currency (1) 5 %  -2 %  35 %  7 %  3 %  5%
LA Reported -6 %  -1 %  -5 %  -3 %  15 %  3%
 Local Currency (1) -2 %  0 %  -5 %  -1 %  19 %  5%
GA Reported 4 %  10 %  50 %  14 %  -1 %  5%
 Local Currency (1) 4 %  12 %  53 %  16 %  4 %  8%
Total Reported 6 %  5 %  23 %  8 %  2 %  5%
 Local Currency (1) 5 %  5 %  21 %  7 %  3 %  5%
             
 
(1) Local currency sales growth is calculated by translating prior year sales at the exchange rates for the corresponding 2014 period.

• NOAM Flavors sales declined 4% as a result of high single-digit declines in Beverage due to higher erosion on existing business and low single-
digit declines in Sweet and Savory. NOAM Fragrance sales grew 8% in the first six months of 2014, principally due to high double-digit gains in
Home Care as well as double-digit gains in Fine Fragrance and Personal Wash and Hair Care categories.

• EAME Flavors LC sales growth of 3% was led by mid single-digit growth in Beverage and Dairy. EAME Fragrance LC sales increased 7% overall,
driven mainly by double-digit growth in Fragrance Ingredients as well as mid single-digit growth in Fine Fragrance, partially offset by declines in
Home Care.

• LA Flavors LC sales were up 19% as new wins drove high double-digit gains in Beverage, which were only partially offset by single-digit declines
in Sweet. LA Fragrances LC sales decline of 1% was driven by double-digit sales growth in Hair Care, which was more than offset by double-digit
declines in Home Care and Fragrance Ingredients.

• GA Flavors had 4% LC sales growth from mid single-digit gains in Savory, Sweet and Dairy. GA Fragrances had 16% LC growth from high
double-digit growth in Fragrance Ingredients and Fabric Care as well as high single-digit growth in Personal Wash and Toiletries.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold, as a percentage of sales, decreased 110 bps to 55.5% in the first six months of 2014 compared to 56.6% in the first six months of
2013. The improvement versus last year was mainly driven by favorable net impact of input costs to pricing and other operational improvement initiatives on
a year-over-year basis.

Research and Development (R&D) Expenses

Overall R&D expenses remained relatively consistent with prior year at 8.2% of sales in the first six months of 2014 compared to 8.3% in the first six
months of 2013.

Selling and Administrative (S&A) Expenses

S&A expenses increased $17.2 million or 16.5%, as a percentage of sales, in the first six months of 2014 versus 16.1% in the first six months of 2013.
The $17.2 million increase reflects the inclusion of Aromor-related expenses, investment in commercial resources to support our three-pillar strategy,
currency impacts and several discrete items in 2014 that were partially offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.

Operating Results by Business Unit

We evaluate the performance of business units based on segment profit which is defined as operating profit before Restructuring, global expenses (as
discussed in Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements) and certain non-recurring items, Interest expense, Other income, net and Taxes on income. See
Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the reconciliation to Income before taxes.
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 Six Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2014  2013

Segment profit:    
Flavors $ 178,869  $ 172,955
Fragrances 172,638  140,270
Global (36,303)  (29,761)

Restructuring and other charges, net (304)  (2,105)
Operational improvement initiative costs (5,732)  (1,360)
Operating profit $ 309,168  $ 279,999
Profit margin    

Flavors 24.1%  23.7%
Fragrances 21.1%  18.6%
Consolidated 19.8%  18.8%

Flavors Segment Profit

Flavors segment profit grew approximately 3% to $178.9 million in the first six months of 2014, or 24.1% as a percentage of sales, compared to $173.0
million, or 23.7% as a percentage of sales, in the comparable 2013 period. The improvement in segment profit and profit margin was driven primarily by
lower incentive compensation expense.

Fragrances Segment Profit

Fragrances segment profit grew approximately 23% to $172.6 million in the first six months of 2014, or 21.1% as a percentage of sales, compared to
$140.3 million, or 18.6% as a percentage of sales, in the comparable 2013 period. The improvement in segment profit and profit margin was due to gross
margin expansion.

Global Expenses

Global expenses represent corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources and R&D and other
administrative expenses that are not allocated to an individual business unit. In the first six months of 2014, Global expenses were $36.3 million compared to
$29.8 million during the first six months of 2013. The increase primarily reflects unfavorable impacts on our cash flow hedging program.

Restructuring and Other Charges, Net

Restructuring and other charges, net in 2014 consist of separation costs for employees, including severance, outplacement and other benefit costs,
relating to the Fragrance Ingredients Rationalization that started in the second quarter of 2013 related to the closing of the fragrance ingredients
manufacturing facility in Augusta, Georgia. The facility was closed during the third quarter of 2014. During the first six months of 2014, the Company
recorded $0.2 million of plant shutdown and other related costs and $0.1 million of severance costs included in Restructuring and other charges, net and $5.1
million of non-cash charges related to accelerated depreciation included in Cost of goods sold. As a result of this closure, 43 positions have been or will be
eliminated. The Company estimates that approximately $5 - $7 million of the costs will be or have been cash expenditures.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $0.9 million to $23.1 million in the first six months of 2014 compared to the first six months of 2013. The decrease in
interest expense principally reflects the refinancing of the Company's debt in 2013. Average cost of debt was 4.9% for the 2014 six month period compared to
4.7% in the 2013 six month period.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net decreased by approximately $9.1 million to $3.2 million of income in the first six months of 2014 versus $12.3 million of income in
the comparable 2013 period. The decrease over the prior year period is driven largely by the 2013 period including a $16.1 million gain related to the sale of a
non-operating asset, offset by year-over-year improvement on foreign currency gains/(losses).
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Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2014 was 25.0% compared with 28.0% for the six months ended June 30, 2013. The year-over-
year decrease is primarily due to a benefit from a litigation ruling during the second quarter of 2014 as well as favorable mix of earnings and a $6.2 million
after-tax Spanish tax charge that was recorded in the first quarter of 2013, which were only partially offset by higher repatriation costs and the absence of the
U.S. R&D tax credit in 2014. Excluding the impact of taxes related to restructuring and other charges in the current quarter, and the tax charge related to the
sale of a non-operating asset in the prior year quarter, the adjusted effective tax rate was 25.2% for both 2014 and 2013.

 Liquidity and Capital Resources

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

We had cash and cash equivalents of $326.9 million at June 30, 2014 compared to $405.5 million at December 31, 2013, of which $239.2 million of the
balance at June 30, 2014 was held outside the United States. Cash balances held in foreign jurisdictions are, in most circumstances, available to be repatriated
to the United States; however, they would be subject to United States federal income taxes, less applicable foreign tax credits. We have not provided U.S.
income tax expense on accumulated earnings of our foreign subsidiaries because we have the ability and plan to reinvest the undistributed earnings
indefinitely.

Effective utilization of the cash generated by our international operations is a critical component of our tax strategy. Strategic dividend repatriation from
foreign subsidiaries creates U.S. taxable income, which enables us to realize deferred tax assets. The Company regularly repatriates, in the form of dividends
from its non-U.S. subsidiaries, a portion of its current year earnings to fund financial obligations in the U.S.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating cash flows in the first six months of 2014 were $154.0 million compared to $118.0 million in the first six months of 2013. The increase in
operating cash flows for the first six months of 2014 compared to 2013 reflect increased net income ($24 million) offset by an increase in net cash outflow
associated with our core working capital (trade receivables plus inventories, less accounts payable) ($23.0 million). Additionally, operating cash flows versus
the prior year period also reflect incremental year-over-year incentive compensation payments of $31.9 million in 2014; a $11.2 million payment in 2014
made to the Spanish tax authorities for a capital tax claim as discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements partially offset by a $30.0 million
pension contribution in the first quarter of 2013 and a $23.3 million payment related to the 2002-2003 Spanish tax cases during the second quarter of 2013.

Working capital (current assets less current liabilities) totaled $1,175.4 million at June 30, 2014, compared to $1,092.5 million at December 31, 2013.
The increase in working capital reflects strong cash generation partially offset by certain payments, principally for the Aromor acquisition, dividends and
incentive compensation. We selectively participate in programs offered by certain of our global customers. When participating in these programs, we
accelerate the receipt of cash by selling the selected accounts receivable positions with these customers, on a non-recourse basis, at a discount to designated
third party banks. The cost of participating in these programs was immaterial to our results in all periods.

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net investing activities during the first six months of 2014 utilized $143.4 million compared to $42.8 million in the prior year period.

The Company paid $102.5 million (net of $0.1 million of cash acquired) for the acquisition of Aromor, which was funded from existing cash resources.

Additions to property, plant and equipment were $60.2 million during the first six months of 2014 compared to $60.7 million in the first six months of
2013. We expect additions to property, plant and equipment to approach 4-5% of our sales in 2014.

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net financing activities in the first six months of 2014 used $89.6 million compared to $27.2 million in the first six months of 2013. The increase in
cash used for financing activities principally reflects two dividend payments during 2014 compared to one dividend payment during 2013 (there was no
dividend payment made during the first quarter of 2013 as payment was made during the fourth quarter of 2012) as well as increased treasury stock purchases
in 2014 as compared to 2013.
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At June 30, 2014, we had $935.7 million of debt outstanding compared to $932.8 million outstanding at December 31, 2013.

We paid dividends totaling $63.4 million in the 2014 period. We declared a cash dividend per share of $0.39 in the second quarter of 2014 that was paid
on July 8, 2014 to all shareholders of record as of June 26, 2014. We authorized a cash dividend of $0.47 in the third quarter of 2014 that will be paid on
October 7, 2014 to all shareholders of record as of September 25, 2014.

In December 2012, the Board of Directors authorized a $250 million share repurchase program, which commenced in the first quarter of 2013. Based
on the total remaining amount of $164.0 million available under the repurchase program, approximately 1.6 million shares, or 2.0% of shares outstanding
(based on the market price and shares outstanding as of June 30, 2014) could be repurchased under the program as of June 30, 2014. The purchases will be
made from time to time on the open market or through private transactions as market and business conditions warrant. Repurchased shares will be placed into
treasury stock. During the three months ended June 30, 2014, we repurchased 144,057 shares on the open market at an aggregate cost of $14.0 million or an
average of $97.05 per share. We expect total purchases during 2014 to increase over the 2013 purchases of $51 million. The ultimate level of purchases will
be a function of the daily purchase limits established in the pre-approved program according to the share price at that time.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating cash flow provides the primary source of funds for capital investment needs, dividends paid to shareholders and debt repayments. We
anticipate that cash flows from operations and availability under our existing credit facilities are sufficient to meet our investing and financing needs for at
least the next eighteen months. We regularly assess our capital structure, including both current and long-term debt instruments, as compared to our cash
generation and investment needs in order to provide ample flexibility and to optimize our leverage ratios. We believe our existing cash balances are sufficient
to meet our debt service requirements.

We supplement short-term liquidity with access to capital markets, mainly through bank credit facilities and issuance of commercial paper. We did not
issue commercial paper during the first six months of 2014 or 2013.

On April 4, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries amended and restated the Company’s existing credit agreement with Citibank, N.A., as
administrative agent, to, among other things (i) modify the available tranches of the revolving loan facility provided under the credit agreement (as amended,
the “Credit Facility”), (ii) reduce the applicable margin on the interest rate on advances under the Credit Facility to a range of 0.0% to 0.750% for base rate
advances and 0.750% to 1.750% for Eurocurrency rate advances, depending on the Company’s public debt rating and (iii) extend the maturity date of the
Credit Facility until April 4, 2019. Tranche A of the Credit Facility is available to borrowers in U.S. dollars, euros, Swiss francs, Japanese yen and British
sterling in an aggregate amount up to an equivalent of approximately $456 million, with a sublimit of $25 million for swing line borrowings. Tranche B of the
Credit Facility is available to borrowers in euros, Swiss francs, Japanese yen and British sterling in an aggregate amount up to an equivalent of approximately
$494 million.

Although we have appealed the lower court ruling on our Spanish capital tax case, we made payment of $11.2 million (representing the principal
amount) to the Spanish government relating to the case during the first quarter of 2014, which will be refundable if we prevail on our appeal.

We expect to contribute approximately $21 million to our non-U.S. pension plans and approximately $20 million to its qualified U.S. pension plans
during 2014. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, we have contributed $9.8 million related to our non-U.S. pension plans and $2.1 million related to our
U.S. pension plans.

Under our revolving credit facility, we are required to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of net debt for borrowed money to adjusted
EBITDA in respect of the previous 12-month period of not more than 3.25 to 1. Based on this ratio, at June 30, 2014 our covenant compliance provided
overall borrowing capacity of $1,580 million.

As of June 30, 2014 we had no borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The amount which we are able to draw down on under the facility is
limited by financial covenants as described in more detail below. Our drawdown capacity on the facility was $949.0 million at June 30, 2014.

At June 30, 2014, we were in compliance with all financial and other covenants, including the net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio. At June 30, 2014 our
Net Debt/adjusted EBITDA (1) ratio was 0.90 to 1 as defined by the debt agreements, well below the financial covenants of existing outstanding debt. Failure
to comply with the financial and other covenants under our debt agreements would constitute default and would allow the lenders to accelerate the maturity of
all indebtedness under the related agreement. If such acceleration were to occur, we would not have sufficient liquidity available to repay the indebtedness.
We would likely have to seek amendments under the agreements for relief from the financial covenants or repay
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the debt with proceeds from the issuance of new debt or equity, and/or asset sales, if necessary. We may be unable to amend the agreements or raise sufficient
capital to repay such obligations in the event the maturities are accelerated.
 

(1) Adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt, which are non-GAAP measures used for these covenants, are calculated in accordance with the definition in the debt
agreements. In this context, these measures are used solely to provide information on the extent to which we are in compliance with debt covenants
and may not be comparable to adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt used by other companies. Reconciliations of adjusted EBITDA to net income and net
debt to total debt are as follows:

 Twelve Months Ended June 30,

(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS) 2014  2013

Net income $ 377.5  $ 277.4
Interest expense 45.8  44.5
Income taxes 128.8  201.3
Depreciation and amortization 95.9  98.8
Specified items (1) 0.4  2.1
Non-cash items (2) 23.1  4.9
Adjusted EBITDA $ 671.5  $ 629.0
 
(1) Specified items for the 12 months ended June 30, 2014 of $0.4 million consist of restructuring charges.
(2) Non-cash items, defined as part of Adjusted EBITDA in the terms of the Company’s credit facility agreement dated November 9, 2011, represent all other

adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operations as presented on the Statement of Cash Flows, including gain on disposal of
assets, stock-based compensation and pension settlement/curtailment.

 June 30,

(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS) 2014  2013

Total debt $ 935.7  $ 1,033.0
Adjustments:    

Deferred gain on interest rate swaps (6.1)  (8.1)
Cash and cash equivalents (326.9)  (365.9)

Net debt $ 602.7  $ 659.0

As discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, at June 30, 2014, we had entered into various guarantees and had undrawn
outstanding letters of credit from financial institutions. These arrangements reflect ongoing business operations, including commercial commitments, and
governmental requirements associated with audits or litigation that are in process with various jurisdictions. Based on the current facts and circumstances they
are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

As discussed in Notes 6 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we had Euro 9.6 million ($13.2 million) in bank guarantees outstanding as of
June 30, 2014 related to the tax disputes in Spain. These amounts will be reduced once we make the remaining payments pursuant to the settlement agreement
and the dividend withholding tax cases.

Cautionary Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

This Quarterly Report includes “forward-looking statements” under the Federal Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements
regarding the Company’s expectations concerning (i) our ability to meet long-term strategic targets in 2014, (ii) our competitive position in the market and
financial performance in 2014, (iii) expected cost pressures in 2014, (iv) our ability to increase gross margins in 2014, (v) funding of investments in R&D,
emerging markets and technologies, (vi) capital spending in 2014, (vii) cash flows to fund future operations and to meet debt service requirements, (viii) costs
and expenditures associated with the closing of our Augusta facility, and (ix) the ultimate resolution of pending tax matters with the Spanish and Brazilian tax
authorities. These forward-looking statements should be evaluated with consideration given to the many risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company’s
business that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Certain of such forward-looking
information may be identified by such terms as “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “outlook,” “may,” “estimate,” “should” and “predict” similar terms or
variations thereof. Such forward-looking statements are based on a series of expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about the Company, are not
guarantees of future results or performance, and involve significant risks, uncertainties and other factors, including assumptions and projections, for all
forward periods. Actual results of the Company may differ
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materially from any future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following:

• volatility and increases in the price of raw materials, energy and transportation;
• the economic climate for the Company’s industry and demand for the Company’s products;
• the ability of the Company to successfully implement its strategic plan and meet its long-term financial goals;
• fluctuations in the price, quality and availability of raw materials;
• the Company's ability to successfully integrate Aromor and realize the anticipated benefits of the Aromor acquisition on a timely basis, or at all;
• decline in consumer confidence and spending;
• changes in consumer preferences;
• the Company’s ability to predict the short and long-term effects of global economic conditions;
• movements in interest rates;
• the Company’s ability to implement its business strategy, including the achievement of anticipated cost savings, profitability, realization of price

increases and growth targets;
• the Company's ability to benefit from its investments in emerging markets;
• the Company’s ability to successfully develop new and competitive products that appeal to its customers and consumers;
• the effects of any unanticipated costs and construction or start-up delays in the expansion of any of the Company’s facilities;
• the impact of currency fluctuations or devaluations in the Company’s principal foreign markets;
• any adverse impact on the availability, effectiveness and cost of the Company’s hedging and risk management strategies;
• uncertainties regarding the outcome of, or funding requirements, related to litigation or settlement of pending litigation, uncertain tax positions or

other contingencies;
• the impact of possible pension funding obligations and increased pension expense, particularly as a result of changes in asset returns or discount rates,

on the Company’s cash flow and results of operations;
• the Company’s ability to implement its Fragrance Ingredients Rationalization plan, including the achievement of anticipated cost savings;
• the effect of legal and regulatory proceedings, as well as restrictions imposed on the Company, its operations or its representatives by U.S. and foreign

governments;
• adverse changes in federal, state, local and foreign tax legislation or adverse results of tax audits, assessments, or disputes;
• the Company's ability to attract and retain talented employees;
• the direct and indirect costs and other financial impact that may result from any business disruptions due to political instability, armed hostilities,

incidents of terrorism, natural disasters, or the responses to or repercussion from any of these or similar events or conditions;
• the Company’s ability to quickly and effectively implement its disaster recovery and crisis management plans; and
• adverse changes due to accounting rules or regulations.

New risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors or to assess the impact of such risks on the
Company’s business. Accordingly, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events, or otherwise.

Any public statements or disclosures by the Company following this report that modify or impact any of the forward-looking statements contained in or
accompanying this report will be deemed to modify or supersede such outlook or other forward-looking statements in or accompanying this report.

The foregoing list of important factors does not include all such factors, nor necessarily present them in order of importance. In addition, you should
consult other disclosures made by the Company (such as in our other filings with the SEC or in company press releases) for other factors that may cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected by the Company. Please refer to Part I. Item 1A., Risk Factors, of the 2013 Form 10-K for additional
information regarding factors that could affect the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company uses non-GAAP financial operating measures in this Quarterly Report, including: (i) local currency sales (which eliminates the effects
that result from translating its international sales in U.S. dollars), (ii) adjusted operating profit and adjusted operating profit margin (which excludes the
operational improvement initiative and restructuring charges), (iii)

 30  



adjusted other income, net (which excludes the sale of a non-operating asset) and (iv) adjusted effective tax rate (which excludes restructuring charges and
operational improvement initiative costs). The Company also provides the non-GAAP measures adjusted EBITDA (which excludes certain specified items
and non-cash items as set forth in the Company’s debt agreements) and net debt (which is adjusted for deferred gain on interest rate swaps and cash and cash
equivalents) solely for the purpose of providing information on the extent to which the Company is in compliance with debt covenants contained in its debt
agreements.

We have included each of these non-GAAP measures in order to provide additional information regarding our underlying operating results and
comparable year-over-year performance. Such information is supplemental to information presented in accordance with GAAP and is not intended to
represent a presentation in accordance with GAAP. In discussing our historical and expected future results and financial condition, we believe it is meaningful
for investors to be made aware of and to be assisted in a better understanding of, on a period-to-period comparable basis, financial amounts both including
and excluding these identified items, as well as the impact of exchange rate fluctuations. We believe such additional non-GAAP information provides
investors with an overall perspective of the period-to-period performance of our business. In addition, management internally reviews each of these non-
GAAP measures to evaluate performance on a comparative period-to-period basis in terms of absolute performance, trends and expected future performance
with respect to our business. A material limitation of these non-GAAP measures is that such measures do not reflect actual GAAP amounts; for example,
costs associated with operational improvements and restructuring activities involve actual cash outlays. We compensate for such limitations by using these
measures as one of several metrics, including GAAP measures. These non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other
companies.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There are no material changes in market risk from the information provided in the Company’s 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer with the assistance of other members of our management, have evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the period covered by
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We have established controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and the principal
financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have also concluded that there have not been any changes in our internal control over financial
reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 5. Other Information

As previously disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014 (the “May 28 Form 8-K”), Andreas Fibig will assume the position of
Chief Executive Officer of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. (the “Company”) effective September 1, 2014.  On July 31, 2014, our Board of Directors
determined that the value of the 2014 Equity Choice Program award provided for in the letter agreement filed with the May 28 Form 8-K would be $750,000
and that the award would vest in accordance with the standard vesting schedule for Equity Choice Program awards granted in March 2014 as described in the
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on March 25, 2014.  Our Board of Directors also confirmed that Mr. Fibig’s $500,000 sign-on
equity award under the Equity Choice Program will vest in April 2015, concurrently with the vesting of the Company’s other Equity Choice Program awards. 
In addition, our Board of Directors has determined that upon Mr. Tough’s stepping down as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer on September 1, 2014, he
will continue as an employee of the Company during a transition period through December 1, 2014, will receive his current salary, benefits and perquisites
and be entitled to participate in the Company’s AIP and LTIP for 2014 on a pro rata basis through such date, and will receive his December salary as a lump
sum of $100,000 on December 1, 2014.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various claims and legal actions in the ordinary course of our business.

Tax Claims

We are currently involved in a legal proceeding with the Spanish tax authorities that challenges tax deductions taken in our Spanish subsidiaries’ tax
returns and alleges claims of tax avoidance. As of June 30, 2014, the Company had one outstanding income tax case in Spain relating to fiscal year 2002. The
Company has fully reserved the assessment originally asserted by the Spanish tax authority. The Company is awaiting a decision on its appeal and in order to
proceed with the appeal, the Company was required to post a bank guaranty. As of June 30, 2014, the Company had a remaining posted bank guaranty of
Euro 1.8 million ($2.5 million) associated with the 2002 appeal.

The Spanish tax authorities have also alleged claims related to capital tax positions arising from the business structure adopted by our Spanish
subsidiaries. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company was notified that the Spanish High Court of Justice ruled against us in regards to the 2002
capital tax case. As a result, the Company recorded a charge of Euro 9.6 million ($13.0 million, or $9.1 million, after tax) for the year ended December 31,
2013. On January 22, 2014, we filed an appeal. In order to avoid future interest costs in the event our appeal is unsuccessful, we paid $11.2 million
(representing the principal amount) during the first quarter of 2014. Such amount will be refundable if we prevail in our appeal.

In addition to the above, the Company has also been a party to dividend withholding tax controversies in Spain. At June 30, 2014, the Company had
Euro 4.6 million ($6.2 million) reflected in income taxes payable in connection with three of these cases. The fourth and final remaining appeal has not yet
been heard by the Spanish Supreme Court, with an aggregate value of Euro 3.2 million ($4.5 million), including estimated interest, which is fully reserved as
of June 30, 2014. As of June 30, 2014, the Company had posted bank guarantees of Euro 7.8 million ($10.7 million) in order to proceed with the appeal in
this controversy.

We do not currently believe that any of our pending tax assessments, even if ultimately resolved against us, would have a material impact on our
financial condition.

Environmental

Over the past 20 years, various federal and state authorities and private parties have claimed that we are a Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”) as a
generator of waste materials for alleged pollution at a number of waste sites operated by third parties located principally in New Jersey and have sought to
recover costs incurred and to be incurred to clean up the sites.

We have been identified as a PRP at eight facilities operated by third parties at which investigation and/or remediation activities may be ongoing. We
analyze our potential liability on at least a quarterly basis. We accrue for environmental liabilities when they are probable and estimable. We estimate our
share of the total future cost for these sites to be less than $5 million.

While joint and several liability is authorized under federal and state environmental laws, we believe the amounts we have paid and anticipate paying in
the future for clean-up costs and damages at all sites are not material and will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity. This assessment is based upon, among other things, the involvement of other PRPs at most of the sites, the status of the proceedings,
including various settlement agreements and consent decrees, and the extended time period over which payments will likely be made. There can be no
assurance, however, that future events will not require us to materially increase the amounts we anticipate paying for clean-up costs and damages at these
sites, and that such increased amounts will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Other

In March 2012, ZoomEssence, Inc. filed a complaint against the Company in the U.S. District Court of New Jersey alleging trade secret
misappropriation, breach of contract and unjust enrichment in connection with certain spray dry technology disclosed to the Company. In connection with the
claims, ZoomEssence is seeking an injunction and monetary damages. ZoomEssence initially sought a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction,
but the Court denied these applications in an order entered on September 27, 2013, finding that ZoomEssence had not demonstrated a likelihood of success on
the merits of its claims. The Court subsequently referred the matter to mediation, however the private mediation session did not result in a resolution of the
dispute. The case is currently proceeding through general discovery with a trial on
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the merits anticipated in mid-2015. The Company denies the allegations and will vigorously defend its position in Court. At this preliminary stage of the
litigation, based on the information currently available to the Company, management does not believe that this matter represents a material loss contingency.

We are also a party to other litigations arising in the ordinary course of our business. We do not expect the outcome of these cases, singly or in the
aggregate, to have a material effect on our consolidated financial condition.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The table below reflects shares of common stock we repurchased during the second quarter of 2014.
 

Period

Total Number of
Shares

Repurchased (1)  
Average

Price Paid
per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Program  

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares That May Yet
be Purchased Under the

Program

April 1 - 30, 2014 51,593  $ 94.19  51,593  $ 173,154,863
May 1 - 31, 2014 51,331  97.41  51,331  168,154,818
June 1 - 30, 2014 41,133  100.19  41,133  164,033,642
Total 144,057  $ 97.05  144,057  $ 164,033,642
 
(1) Shares were repurchased pursuant to the repurchase program announced in December 2012, with repurchases beginning in the first quarter of 2013.

Repurchases under the program are limited to $250 million in total repurchase price, and the expiration date is December 31, 2016. Authorization of the
repurchase program may be modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time.

Item 6. Exhibits
 

10.1

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2011, Amended and Restated as of April 4, 2014, among International Flavors & Fragrances
Inc., International Flavors & Fragrances (Luxembourg) S.à r.l., International Flavors & Fragrances (Nederland) Holding B.V., International
Flavors & Fragrances I.F.F. (Nederland) B.V., IFF Worldwide (Gibraltar) Limited and IFF Aroma Esans Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, as
borrowers, the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders party thereto, and Citibank, N.A. as administrative agent,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on April 8, 2014.

10.2
 

Letter Agreement between International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. and Andreas Fibig, effective May 26, 2014, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014.

10.3

 

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2014, among International Flavors & Fragrances Inc., International Flavors &
Fragrances (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l., International Flavors & Fragrances (Nederland) Holding B.V., International Flavors & Fragrances I.F.F.
(Nederland) B.V., IFF Worldwide (Gibraltar) Limited and IFF Aroma Esans Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, the various financial
institutions as are parties to the Credit Agreement, and Citibank, N.A. as administrative agent.

10.4
 

Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between International Flavors and Fragrances Inc. and Kevin C.
Berryman.

10.5
 

Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between International Flavors and Fragrances Inc. and Nicolas
Mirzayantz.

31.1   Certification of Douglas D. Tough pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2   Certification of Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Certification of Douglas D. Tough and Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extensions Schema
101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

 34  



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
 

Dated:  August 5, 2014 By:  /s/ Douglas D. Tough
     Douglas D. Tough
     Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Dated:  August 5, 2014 By:  /s/ Kevin C. Berryman
     Kevin C. Berryman
     Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2011, Amended and Restated as of April 4, 2014, among International Flavors & Fragrances
Inc., International Flavors & Fragrances (Luxembourg) S.à r.l., International Flavors & Fragrances (Nederland) Holding B.V., International
Flavors & Fragrances I.F.F. (Nederland) B.V., IFF Worldwide (Gibraltar) Limited and IFF Aroma Esans Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, as
borrowers, the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders party thereto, and Citibank, N.A. as administrative agent,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on April 8, 2014.

10.2
 

Letter Agreement between International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. and Andreas Fibig, effective May 26, 2014, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on May 28, 2014.

10.3

 

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2014, among International Flavors & Fragrances Inc., International Flavors &
Fragrances (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l., International Flavors & Fragrances (Nederland) Holding B.V., International Flavors & Fragrances I.F.F.
(Nederland) B.V., IFF Worldwide (Gibraltar) Limited and IFF Aroma Esans Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, the various financial
institutions as are parties to the Credit Agreement, and Citibank, N.A. as administrative agent.

10.4
 

Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between International Flavors and Fragrances Inc. and Kevin C.
Berryman.

10.5
 

Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between International Flavors and Fragrances Inc. and Nicolas
Mirzayantz.

31.1   Certification of Douglas D. Tough pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2   Certification of Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Certification of Douglas D. Tough and Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extensions Schema
101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
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EXHIBIT 10.3

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE 
CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of June 2nd, 2014

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) among INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS &
FRAGRANCES INC., a New York corporation (the “Company”), INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES (LUXEMBOURG)
S.à.r.l., a private limited liability company (société à responsabilité limitée) incorporated in Luxembourg and registered with the Register of
Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg under number B 79234 and having its registered address at 6 rue de Mamer, L-8081 Bertrange,
Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg, with a share capital of EUR 163,360,000 (“IFF Lux”), INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES
(NEDERLAND) HOLDING B.V., a private limited liability company incorporated in the Netherlands (“NL Holding”), INTERNATIONAL
FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES I.F.F. (NEDERLAND) B.V., a private limited liability company incorporated in the Netherlands (“IFF
Nederland”), IFF WORLDWIDE (GIBRALTAR) LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of Gibraltar (“IFF Worldwide Gibraltar”),
IFF AROMA ESANS SANAYI VE TICARET ANONIM SIRKETI, a Turkish joint stock company organized under the laws of Turkey (“IFF
Turkey”), the various financial institutions as are parties to the Credit Agreement referred to below (collectively, the “Lenders”), and Citibank,
N.A. (“Citibank”), as administrative agent (in such capacity, the “Agent”) for the Lenders.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

(1)    The Borrower, the Lenders and the Agent have entered into a Credit Agreement, amended and restated as of April 4, 2014
(the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Amendment have the same meanings as specified in the Credit
Agreement.

(2)    The Company has requested and the Required Lenders have agreed that the Credit Agreement be amended upon the terms
and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements contained herein, and for other valuable
consideration the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as hereinafter set forth.

SECTION 1. Amendments to Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is, effective as of the date hereof and subject to the
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 2, hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 2.01(a)(i) is amended in full to read as follows:

“Tranche A. Each Tranche A Lender severally agrees, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to make
Tranche A Revolving Credit Advances denominated in Dollars or any Committed Currency to any Borrower (other than
IFF Turkey and IFF Worldwide Gibraltar) from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the Effective
Date until the Termination Date applicable to such Lender in an amount (based in respect of any Revolving Credit
Advances to be denominated in a Committed Currency by reference to the Equivalent thereof in Dollars determined on the
date of delivery of the applicable Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing) not to exceed such



Lender’s Unused Tranche A Commitment. Each Revolving Credit Borrowing under the Tranche A Facility shall be in an
amount not less than the Revolving Credit Borrowing Minimum or the Revolving Credit Borrowing Multiple in excess
thereof and shall consist of Tranche A Revolving Credit Advances of the same Type and in the same currency made on the
same day by the Lenders ratably according to their respective Tranche A Revolving Credit Commitments. Within the limits
of each Lender’s Tranche A Revolving Credit Commitment, any Borrower (other than IFF Turkey and IFF Worldwide
Gibraltar) may borrow under this Section 2.01(a)(i), prepay pursuant to Section 2.10 and reborrow under this Section
2.01(a)(i).”

(b) Section 2.01(b)(i) is amended in full to read as follows:

“Tranche A. Each Tranche A Swing Line Bank severally agrees, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to make
Tranche A Swing Line Advances denominated in Dollars to any Borrower (other than IFF Turkey and IFF Worldwide
Gibraltar) from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the date hereof until the Termination Date
applicable to the Tranche A Swing Line Bank (A) in an aggregate amount not to exceed at any time outstanding the
Tranche A Swing Line Subfacility and (B) in an amount for each such Advance not to exceed an amount equal to the
Unused Tranche A Commitments of the Tranche A Lenders on such Business Day. Each Tranche A Swing Line Borrowing
shall be in an amount of $5,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof and shall consist of Base Rate
Advances made on the same day by the Tranche A Swing Line Banks ratably according to their respective Tranche A
Swing Line Commitments. Within the limits of the Tranche A Swing Line Subfacility and within the limits referred to in
clause (B) above, the Borrowers (other than IFF Turkey and IFF Worldwide Gibraltar) may borrow under this Section
2.01(b)(i), prepay pursuant to Section 2.10 and reborrow under this Section 2.01(b)(i).”

SECTION 2. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective on and as of the date first above written (the
“Amendment Effective Date”) when, and only when, the Agent or its counsel shall have received counterparts of this Amendment duly
executed by the Borrowers and the Required Lenders.

SECTION 3. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement and the Notes. (a) On and after the Amendment Effective Date,
each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement,
and each reference in the Notes to “the Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement,
shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

(b)    The Credit Agreement, as specifically amended by this Amendment, is and shall continue to be in full force and effect
and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.

(c)    The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a
waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Agent under the Credit Agreement, or constitute a waiver of any provision of the
Credit Agreement.

SECTION 4. Costs and Expenses. The Company agrees to pay on demand all reasonable and documented out‑of‑pocket
costs and expenses of the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery and administration, modification and amendment of this
Amendment and the other

2    



instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder (including, without limitation, the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of
counsel for the Agent) in accordance with the terms of Section 9.04 of the Credit Agreement.

SECTION 5. Execution in Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall
constitute but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopier shall be
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

SECTION 6. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto
duly authorized, as of the date first above written.

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES
INC.
By /s/ Robert Anderson
 Name: Robert Anderson 
 Title: Treasurer

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS &
FRAGRANCES (LUXEMBOURG)
S.à.r.l.
By /s/ Robert Anderson
 Name: Robert Anderson 
 Title: Manager

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES
(NEDERLAND) HOLDING B.V.
By /s/ Jeroen Henricus Maria van Noorden

 
Name: Jeroen Henricus Maria van 
Noorden 

 Title: Managing Director

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES
I.F.F. (NEDERLAND) B.V.
By /s/ Jeroen Henricus Maria van Noorden

 
Name: Jeroen Henricus Maria van 
Noorden 

 Title: Managing Director

[IFF Amendment No. 1 Signature Page]    



EXECUTED AS A DEED BY
IFF WORLDWIDE (GIBRALTAR) LIMITED
By /s/ Robert Anderson
 Name: Robert Anderson
 Title: Director
  

By /s/ Richard O’Leary
 Name: Richard O’Leary
 Title: Director

IFF AROMA ESANS SANAYI VE TICARET
ANONIM SIRKETI
By /s/ Server Tolga Tanriover
 Name: Server Tolga Tanriover
 Title: Board Member
  

By /s/ Meryem Berna Balibasa
 Name: Meryem Berna Balibasa 
 Title: Vice-President

[IFF Amendment No. 1 Signature Page]    



Accepted and Agreed:

CITIBANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
Lender and Swing Line Lender
By /s/ Michael Vondriska
 Name: Michael Vondriska
 Title: Vice President

CITIBANK INTERNATIONAL PLC, as Tranche B
Swing Line Bank
By /s/ Andrew Mason
 Name: Andrew Mason
 Title: Vice President

BNP PARIBAS
By /s/ Berangere Allen
 Name: Berangere Allen
 Title: Director
  

By /s/ Richard Pace
 Name: Richard Pace
 Title: Managing Director

BNP PARIBAS FORTIS S.A./N.V.
By /s/ Hans Maas
 Name: Hans Maas
 Title: Executive Director
  

By /s/ Erik Putteman
 Name: Erik Putteman
 Title: Senior Banker
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
By /s/ Joon Hur
 Name: Joon Hur
 Title: Vice President

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ,
LTD.
By /s/ Adrienne Young
 Name: Adrienne Young
 Title: Vice President

MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A.
By /s/ John Durland
 Name: John Durland
 Title: Authorized Signatory

RBS CITIZENS, N.A.
By /s/ Colin Monaghan
 Name: Colin Monaghan
 Title: Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By /s/ Michael Ryno
 Name: Michael Ryno
 Title: Vice President
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SANTANDER BANK, N.A.
By /s/ Matthew Bartlett
 Name: Matthew Bartlett
 Title: Vice President

ING BANK N.V., DUBLIN BRANCH
By /s/ Sean Hassett
 Name: Sean Hassett
 Title: Director
  

By /s/ Maurice Kenny
 Name: Maurice Kenny
 Title: Director

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
 ASSOCIATION
By /s/ Tony Sood
 Name: Tony Sood
 Title: Director

STANDARD CHARTERED BANK
By /s/ Heinz Noeding
 Name: Heinz Noeding
 Title: Managing Director

COBANK, ACB
By /s/ Natalya Rivkin
 Name: Natalya Rivkin
 Title: Vice President
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF
CHINA (EUROPE) S.A. AMSTERDAM BRANCH
By /s/ Weihuang Jin
 Name: Weihuang Jin
 Title: General Manager
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EXHIBIT 10.4
INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (“RSU”) AWARD AGREEMENT
(the “RSU AWARD AGREEMENT”)

Participant: Kevin Berryman                Job Level: 11

Organization Unit/Location: Finance, New York    Position: EVP Chief Financial Officer

This RSU Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014 (the “Grant Date”), is made by and between International Flavors &
Fragrances Inc., a New York Corporation, including its affiliates (the “Company”) and Kevin Berryman (the “Participant”) under
the International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. 2010 Stock Award and Incentive Plan, as it may be amended from time to time (the
“Plan”). Pursuant to Section 6 of the Plan, Participant has been granted an RSU Award, as described below (the “RSU Award”)
subject to the Participant’s acceptance of the attached RSU Terms and Conditions and the Plan, both of which are made a part
hereof and are incorporated herein by reference.

RSU Award Information

Grant Date Award Value on
Grant Date ($US)

Number of
RSUs Granted

Closing Share
Price on Grant

Date ($US)

Vesting Date Settlement of Award

June 13,
2014

$2,015,800 20,000 $100.79 June 13, 2016 Awards are settled by delivery
of one Share of Company
Common Stock for each RSU
being settled

BY ACCEPTING THIS RSU AWARD, PARTICIPANT AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE PLAN, THIS RSU AWARD
AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND RELATED ADDENDUM. THE PARTICIPANT HAS REVIEWED THE PLAN,
THE RSU AWARD AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS IN THEIR ENTIRETY, HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO
OBTAIN THE ADVICE OF COUNSEL PRIOR TO ACCEPTING THE RSU AWARD AND FULLY UNDERSTANDS ALL OF THE PROVISIONS
OF THE PLAN, THIS RSU AWARD AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS. THE PARTICIPANT HAS BEEN PROVIDED
WITH A COPY OR ELECTRONIC ACCESS TO A COPY OF THE U.S. PROSPECTUS FOR THE PLAN. PARTICIPANT HEREBY AGREES
TO ACCEPT AS BINDING, CONCLUSIVE AND FINAL ALL DECISIONS OR INTERPRETATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ARISING UNDER
THE PLAN, THE RSU AWARD AGREEMENT OR THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS.
 

/S/ KEVIN BERRYMAN    JUNE 16, 2014
_______________________________ ____________________    
ACCEPTED: KEVIN E. BERRYMAN    DATE:
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
RSU AWARD AGEEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS (the “RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS”)

These RSU Terms and Conditions, including the relevant addendum, are a part of each International Flavors &
Fragrances Inc. (the “Company”) RSU Award Agreement made under the Plan, which is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan. In the event of any conflict
between the provisions of these RSU Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall govern.

1. Amount of RSU Award. As of the Grant Date, the Participant shall be eligible to receive an RSU Award in the
number of RSUs specified on the first page of the RSU Award Agreement. The RSU Award provides Participant
with a contractual right to receive one share of Stock for each RSU being settled upon vesting.

2. Eligibility for Award. A Participant’s eligibility for an RSU Award shall be at the discretion of the Committee as
authorized in Section 5 of the Plan. The grant of an RSU Award is a one-time benefit and does not create any
contractual or other right to receive any future RSU Award.

3. Vesting and Account. The RSU Award vests on the date set forth on the first page of the RSU Award
Agreement if not previously forfeited, and is 0% vested before expiration of this period. Prior to vesting, the
Company or its designated agent shall maintain a bookkeeping account reflecting the number of RSUs credited
to a Participant’s account.

4. Settlement of the Award. Upon vesting, the RSU Award will be settled by delivery of one share of Stock as of
the Vesting Date, for each RSU being settled. Such settlement shall occur promptly on or following the vesting of
each RSU.

5. Voting Rights and Dividends. RSUs do not provide voting or dividend rights until fully vested and no dividends
or dividend equivalents will be paid or credited on any unvested RSUs.

6. Termination of Employment. A Participant’s rights under the RSU Award following termination of employment
or leave of absence shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions:

a. Termination Not for Cause, Death or Disability. If the Participant is involuntarily terminated not for Cause or
terminates employment due to death or disability prior to June 13, 2015, then one half (10,000) of the
outstanding unvested RSUs will become immediately vested. If the Participant is involuntarily terminated not
for Cause or terminates employment due to death or disability on or after June 13, 2015, then a pro-rata
portion of all outstanding unvested RSUs shall become immediately vested. Upon vesting, such RSUs shall
be settled promptly. The
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pro-rata portion shall be determined by multiplying the number of unvested RSUs by a fraction, the
numerator of which is (x) the number of days from the Grant Date to the Participant’s termination of
employment and (y) the denominator of which is 730. A Participant’s RSUs that have not vested before such
termination of employment under this subsection 6(a) will be immediately forfeited.

b. Resignation, Termination With Cause or Retirement. If a Participant resigns, is terminated by the Company
for Cause or terminates employment due to Normal or Early Retirement, then all outstanding unvested RSUs
will be immediately forfeited.

7. Change in Control. In the event the Company undergoes a “Change in Control” as defined in Section 9 of the
Plan, RSU Awards shall be treated as provided for in Section 9 of the Plan.

8. Clawback and Recoupment Provisions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the RSU Award shall
be subject to the clawback, recoupment and forfeiture provisions of Section 10 of the Plan and Section 7 of the
ESP. By acknowledging the RSU Award Agreement, the Participant acknowledges that any and all RSU Awards
previously granted to the Participant under Section 6 or Section 7 of the Plan prior to the Grant Date, and any
other cash or Stock provided to the Participant prior to or following the Grant Date under the RSU Award or
otherwise under the Plan, are subject to the provisions of Section 10 of the Plan and Section 7 of the ESP.

9. Limits on Transfers of Awards. Except as provided by the Committee, no RSU Award and no right under any
RSU Award, shall be assignable, alienable, saleable, or transferable by a Participant other than by will or by the
laws of descent and distribution in accordance with Section 11(b) of the Plan.

10.Administration.

a. Administration. The Board has delegated administrative authority to the Committee and the RSU Award
shall be administered by the Committee or a subset of the Committee that satisfies the
requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Code”) with respect to any incentive compensation
subject to Code Section 162(m).

b. Powers and Duties. The Committee shall have sole discretion and authority to make any and all
determinations necessary or advisable for administration of an RSU Award and may adopt, amend
or revoke any rule or regulation established for the proper administration of an RSU Award. The
Committee shall have the ability to modify the RSU Award provisions, to the extent necessary, or
delegate such authority, to accommodate any changes in law or regulations in jurisdictions in which
Participants will receive RSU Awards. The Committee will oversee RSU Award calculations. All
interpretations, decisions, or
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determinations made by the Committee pursuant to an RSU Award shall be final and conclusive.

11.Amendment; Termination of the RSU Award. The Committee has the right to revise, modify, or terminate an
RSU Award in whole or in part at any time or for any reason, and the right to modify any RSU Award amount in
accordance with Section 11(e) of the Plan.

12.Tax Liability and Withholding. The Participant shall be responsible for any tax liability that may arise as a
result of the payments contemplated by an RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions in accordance with
Section 11(d) of the Plan. The Participant acknowledges the Company is authorized to withhold taxes due, or
potentially payable in connection with any payment of an RSU Award in accordance with Section 11(d) of the
Plan. Further, the Participant agrees to any deduction or setoff by the Company as provided under Section 11(f)
of the Plan.

13.Compliance with Code Section 409A. Section 11(j) of the Plan is hereby incorporated by reference.

14.Severability; Survival of Terms. Should any provision of an RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions
be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, such holding shall not affect the validity of the
remainder of the RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions. These RSU Terms and Conditions shall apply
to and bind the Participant and the Company and their respective permitted assignees and transferees, heirs,
legatees, executors, administrators and legal successors.

15.Entire Agreement; Dispute Resolution. These RSU Terms and Conditions and all addendums hereto, the
RSU Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the
Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof.

16.Non U.S. Residents. Rights and restrictions for Participants residing in foreign countries may differ and shall be
based on applicable foreign law and will be governed by Section 11(K) of the Plan.

17.Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to an RSU Award
by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if
requested, to agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained
by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

18.Governing Law. These RSU Terms and Conditions and the RSU Award Agreement shall be governed by and
construed according to the laws of the State of New York and the United States without regard to principles of
conflict of law.
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19.Consent for Data Transfer. By accepting this RSU Award Agreement, the Participant voluntarily acknowledges
and consents to the collection, use processing and transfer of personal data as described herein, including for
the purpose of managing and administering the Plan, certain personal information, including name, home
address and telephone number, date of birth, social security number or other employee identification number,
salary, nationality, job title, any shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, and details of all options or
any other entitlement to Shares or other equity of the Company awarded, canceled, purchased, vested,
unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”). The Company and/or its affiliates will transfer Data
among themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementation, administration and management of the Plan
and may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Company in the implementation, administration
and management of the Plan. These recipients may be located in the European Economic Area, or elsewhere
throughout the world, such as the United States. Participant authorizes them to receive, possess, use, retain and
transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing
Participant’s participation in the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required for the
administration of the Plan and/or the subsequent holding of Shares or equity on Participant’s behalf to a broker
or other third party with whom Participant may elect to deposit any shares Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan.
Participant may, at any time, review Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents
herein in writing by contacting the Company; however, withdrawing consent may affect Participant’s ability to
participate in the Plan.

20.Addendum. Notwithstanding any provision in these RSU Terms and Conditions to the contrary, the RSUs shall
be subject to any special terms and conditions for Participant’s country of residence (and country of
employment, if different) set forth in an addendum to these RSU Terms and Conditions (an “Addendum”).
Further, if Participant transfers Participant’s residence and/or employment to another country, at the time of
transfer, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant to the extent the Company
determines, in its sole discretion, that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in
order to comply with local laws, rules and regulations or to facilitate the operation and administration of the
RSUs and the Plan (or the Company may establish alternative terms and conditions as may be necessary or
advisable to accommodate Participant’s transfer). Any applicable Addendum shall constitute part of these RSU
Terms and Conditions. 

21.Private Placement. The grant of RSUs is not intended to be a public offering of securities in Participant’s
country of residence (and country of employment, if different). The Company has not submitted any registration
statement, prospectus or other filings with the local securities authorities (unless otherwise required under local
law), and the grant of the RSUs is not subject to the supervision of the local securities authorities.

22.Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this RSU Award Agreement or the RSU Terms and
Conditions shall be in writing and shall be deemed

June, 2014



to have been given when delivered personally or by courier, or sent by certified or registered mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, duly addressed to the party concerned at the address indicated below or to
such changed address as such party may subsequently by similar process give notice of:

If to the Company:

International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.
521 W. 57th Street
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Chief Human Resources Officer

If to the Participant:

To the last address delivered to the Company by the Participant in the manner set forth herein.
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EXHIBIT 10.5
INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (“RSU”) AWARD AGREEMENT
(the “RSU AWARD AGREEMENT”)

Participant: Nicolas Mirzayantz             Job Level: 11

Organization Unit/Location: Fragrance, New York    Position: EVP Group President, Fragrance

This RSU Award Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014 (the “Grant Date”), is made by and between International Flavors &
Fragrances Inc., a New York Corporation, including its affiliates (the “Company”) and Nicolas Mirzayantz (the “Participant”) under
the International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. 2010 Stock Award and Incentive Plan, as it may be amended from time to time (the
“Plan”). Pursuant to Section 6 of the Plan, Participant has been granted an RSU Award, as described below (the “RSU Award”)
subject to the Participant’s acceptance of the attached RSU Terms and Conditions and the Plan, both of which are made a part
hereof and are incorporated herein by reference.

RSU Award Information

Grant Date Award Value on
Grant Date ($US)

Number of
RSUs Granted

Closing Share
Price on Grant

Date ($US)

Vesting Date Settlement of Award

June 13, 2014 $2,015,800 20,000 $100.79 June 13, 2016 Awards are settled by
delivery of one Share of
Company Common Stock
for each RSU being settled

BY ACCEPTING THIS RSU AWARD, PARTICIPANT AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE PLAN, THIS RSU AWARD
AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND RELATED ADDENDUM. THE PARTICIPANT HAS REVIEWED THE PLAN,
THE RSU AWARD AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS IN THEIR ENTIRETY, HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO
OBTAIN THE ADVICE OF COUNSEL PRIOR TO ACCEPTING THE RSU AWARD AND FULLY UNDERSTANDS ALL OF THE PROVISIONS
OF THE PLAN, THIS RSU AWARD AGREEMENT AND THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS. THE PARTICIPANT HAS BEEN PROVIDED
WITH A COPY OR ELECTRONIC ACCESS TO A COPY OF THE U.S. PROSPECTUS FOR THE PLAN. PARTICIPANT HEREBY AGREES
TO ACCEPT AS BINDING, CONCLUSIVE AND FINAL ALL DECISIONS OR INTERPRETATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ARISING UNDER
THE PLAN, THE RSU AWARD AGREEMENT OR THE RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

/S/ NICOLAS MIRZAYANTZ            JUNE 18, 2014
_________________________________ ________________
ACCEPTED: NICOLAS MIRZAYANTZ    DATE:
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
RSU AWARD AGEEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS (the “RSU TERMS AND CONDITIONS”)

These RSU Terms and Conditions, including the relevant addendum, are a part of each International Flavors &
Fragrances Inc. (the “Company”) RSU Award Agreement made under the Plan, which is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan. In the event of any conflict
between the provisions of these RSU Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall govern.

1. Amount of RSU Award. As of the Grant Date, the Participant shall be eligible to receive an RSU Award in the
number of RSUs specified on the first page of the RSU Award Agreement. The RSU Award provides Participant
with a contractual right to receive one share of Stock for each RSU being settled upon vesting.

2. Eligibility for Award. A Participant’s eligibility for an RSU Award shall be at the discretion of the Committee as
authorized in Section 5 of the Plan. The grant of an RSU Award is a one-time benefit and does not create any
contractual or other right to receive any future RSU Award.

3. Vesting and Account. The RSU Award vests on the date set forth on the first page of the RSU Award
Agreement if not previously forfeited, and is 0% vested before expiration of this period. Prior to vesting, the
Company or its designated agent shall maintain a bookkeeping account reflecting the number of RSUs credited
to a Participant’s account.

4. Settlement of the Award. Upon vesting, the RSU Award will be settled by delivery of one share of Stock as of
the Vesting Date, for each RSU being settled. Such settlement shall occur promptly on or following the vesting of
each RSU.

5. Voting Rights and Dividends. RSUs do not provide voting or dividend rights until fully vested and no dividends
or dividend equivalents will be paid or credited on any unvested RSUs.

6. Termination of Employment. A Participant’s rights under the RSU Award following termination of employment
or leave of absence shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions:

a. Termination Not for Cause, Death or Disability. If the Participant is involuntarily terminated not for Cause or
terminates employment due to death or disability prior to June 13, 2015, then one half (10,000) of the
outstanding unvested RSUs will become immediately vested. If the Participant is involuntarily terminated not
for Cause or terminates employment due to death or disability on or after June 13, 2015, then a pro-rata
portion of all outstanding unvested RSUs shall become immediately vested. Upon vesting, such RSUs shall
be settled promptly. The
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pro-rata portion shall be determined by multiplying the number of unvested RSUs by a fraction, the
numerator of which is (x) the number of days from the Grant Date to the Participant’s termination of
employment and (y) the denominator of which is 730. A Participant’s RSUs that have not vested before such
termination of employment under this subsection 6(a) will be immediately forfeited.

b. Resignation, Termination With Cause or Retirement. If a Participant resigns, is terminated by the Company
for Cause or terminates employment due to Normal or Early Retirement, then all outstanding unvested RSUs
will be immediately forfeited.

7. Change in Control. In the event the Company undergoes a “Change in Control” as defined in Section 9 of the
Plan, RSU Awards shall be treated as provided for in Section 9 of the Plan.

8. Clawback and Recoupment Provisions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the RSU Award shall
be subject to the clawback, recoupment and forfeiture provisions of Section 10 of the Plan and Section 7 of the
ESP. By acknowledging the RSU Award Agreement, the Participant acknowledges that any and all RSU Awards
previously granted to the Participant under Section 6 or Section 7 of the Plan prior to the Grant Date, and any
other cash or Stock provided to the Participant prior to or following the Grant Date under the RSU Award or
otherwise under the Plan, are subject to the provisions of Section 10 of the Plan and Section 7 of the ESP.

9. Limits on Transfers of Awards. Except as provided by the Committee, no RSU Award and no right under any
RSU Award, shall be assignable, alienable, saleable, or transferable by a Participant other than by will or by the
laws of descent and distribution in accordance with Section 11(b) of the Plan.

10.Administration.

a. Administration. The Board has delegated administrative authority to the Committee and the RSU Award
shall be administered by the Committee or a subset of the Committee that satisfies the
requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Code”) with respect to any incentive compensation
subject to Code Section 162(m).

b. Powers and Duties. The Committee shall have sole discretion and authority to make any and all
determinations necessary or advisable for administration of an RSU Award and may adopt, amend
or revoke any rule or regulation established for the proper administration of an RSU Award. The
Committee shall have the ability to modify the RSU Award provisions, to the extent necessary, or
delegate such authority, to accommodate any changes in law or regulations in jurisdictions in which
Participants will receive RSU Awards. The Committee will oversee RSU Award calculations. All
interpretations, decisions, or
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determinations made by the Committee pursuant to an RSU Award shall be final and conclusive.

11.Amendment; Termination of the RSU Award. The Committee has the right to revise, modify, or terminate an
RSU Award in whole or in part at any time or for any reason, and the right to modify any RSU Award amount in
accordance with Section 11(e) of the Plan.

12.Tax Liability and Withholding. The Participant shall be responsible for any tax liability that may arise as a
result of the payments contemplated by an RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions in accordance with
Section 11(d) of the Plan. The Participant acknowledges the Company is authorized to withhold taxes due, or
potentially payable in connection with any payment of an RSU Award in accordance with Section 11(d) of the
Plan. Further, the Participant agrees to any deduction or setoff by the Company as provided under Section 11(f)
of the Plan.

13.Compliance with Code Section 409A. Section 11(j) of the Plan is hereby incorporated by reference.

14.Severability; Survival of Terms. Should any provision of an RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions
be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, such holding shall not affect the validity of the
remainder of the RSU Award or these RSU Terms and Conditions. These RSU Terms and Conditions shall apply
to and bind the Participant and the Company and their respective permitted assignees and transferees, heirs,
legatees, executors, administrators and legal successors.

15.Entire Agreement; Dispute Resolution. These RSU Terms and Conditions and all addendums hereto, the
RSU Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the
Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof.

16.Non U.S. Residents. Rights and restrictions for Participants residing in foreign countries may differ and shall be
based on applicable foreign law and will be governed by Section 11(K) of the Plan.

17.Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to an RSU Award
by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if
requested, to agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained
by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

18.Governing Law. These RSU Terms and Conditions and the RSU Award Agreement shall be governed by and
construed according to the laws of the State of New York and the United States without regard to principles of
conflict of law.
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19.Consent for Data Transfer. By accepting this RSU Award Agreement, the Participant voluntarily acknowledges
and consents to the collection, use processing and transfer of personal data as described herein, including for
the purpose of managing and administering the Plan, certain personal information, including name, home
address and telephone number, date of birth, social security number or other employee identification number,
salary, nationality, job title, any shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, and details of all options or
any other entitlement to Shares or other equity of the Company awarded, canceled, purchased, vested,
unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”). The Company and/or its affiliates will transfer Data
among themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementation, administration and management of the Plan
and may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Company in the implementation, administration
and management of the Plan. These recipients may be located in the European Economic Area, or elsewhere
throughout the world, such as the United States. Participant authorizes them to receive, possess, use, retain and
transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing
Participant’s participation in the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required for the
administration of the Plan and/or the subsequent holding of Shares or equity on Participant’s behalf to a broker
or other third party with whom Participant may elect to deposit any shares Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan.
Participant may, at any time, review Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents
herein in writing by contacting the Company; however, withdrawing consent may affect Participant’s ability to
participate in the Plan.

20.Addendum. Notwithstanding any provision in these RSU Terms and Conditions to the contrary, the RSUs shall
be subject to any special terms and conditions for Participant’s country of residence (and country of
employment, if different) set forth in an addendum to these RSU Terms and Conditions (an “Addendum”).
Further, if Participant transfers Participant’s residence and/or employment to another country, at the time of
transfer, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant to the extent the Company
determines, in its sole discretion, that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in
order to comply with local laws, rules and regulations or to facilitate the operation and administration of the
RSUs and the Plan (or the Company may establish alternative terms and conditions as may be necessary or
advisable to accommodate Participant’s transfer). Any applicable Addendum shall constitute part of these RSU
Terms and Conditions. 

21.Private Placement. The grant of RSUs is not intended to be a public offering of securities in Participant’s
country of residence (and country of employment, if different). The Company has not submitted any registration
statement, prospectus or other filings with the local securities authorities (unless otherwise required under local
law), and the grant of the RSUs is not subject to the supervision of the local securities authorities.

22.Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this RSU Award Agreement or the RSU Terms and
Conditions shall be in writing and shall be deemed

June, 2014



to have been given when delivered personally or by courier, or sent by certified or registered mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, duly addressed to the party concerned at the address indicated below or to
such changed address as such party may subsequently by similar process give notice of:

If to the Company:

International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.
521 W. 57th Street
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Chief Human Resources Officer

If to the Participant:

To the last address delivered to the Company by the Participant in the manner set forth herein.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas D. Tough, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: August 5, 2014
 By: /s/ Douglas D. Tough  
 Name: Douglas D. Tough
 Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Kevin C. Berryman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: August 5, 2014
 By: /s/ Kevin C. Berryman  
 Name: Kevin C. Berryman
 Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. (the "Company") for the quarterly period
ended June 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Douglas D. Tough, as Chief
Executive Officer, and Kevin C. Berryman, as Chief Financial Officer, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

By: /s/ Douglas D. Tough
Name: Douglas D. Tough
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: August 5, 2014

By: /s/ Kevin C. Berryman
Name: Kevin C. Berryman
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Dated: August 5, 2014


